2015 ANNUAL REPORT
FOR PRESENTATION AT THE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016

COLLEGE OF PHARMACISTS OF MANITOBA
ANNUAL REPORT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Order of Business and Annual General Meeting Agenda………………………………

1

Rules of Procedure……………………………………………………………………..

2

Reading of the Minutes of the 2015 Annual General Meeting…………………………

3

Business Arising from the April 8, 2015, Annual General Meeting…………………..…

9

Report of the Executive Treasurer……………………………………………………..

10

2016 Budget……………………………………………………………………………

11

Independent Auditors’ Report & Financial Statements to December 31, 2015…………

12

Registrar’s Report……………………………………………………………………...

33

Deputy Registrar’s Report……………………………………………………………… 40
Professional Development Division of the Quality Assurance Committee Report ……

44

Standards of Practice Division of the Quality Assurance Committee Report……………

51

Finance and Risk Management Committee Report……………………………………..

52

Board of Examiners Report...…………………………………………………………

53

Awards & Nominating Committee Report…………………………………………….

54

Governance Committee Report…………………………………………………………

57

National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA) Report…………

58

The Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) Liaison Report………………….

62

College of Pharmacy Report…………………………………………………………...

63

COLLEGE OF PHARMACISTS OF MANITOBA

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
SATURDAY, APRIL 9, 2016 – 2 P.M.
RBC Convention Centre
2 Floor Presentation Theatre
375 York Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba
nd

The Annual General Meeting of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba is scheduled to
commence at 2:00 p.m. on Saturday, April 9, 2016, in the Presentation Theatre of the RBC
Convention Centre, in Winnipeg, at which time a series of annual reports will be presented.
The reports will be presented for information and any issues arising from the reports will be
referred to the Open Discussion session, which will occur later in the afternoon.
AGENDA-ORDER OF BUSINESS
CHAIR – Glenda Marsh

1. Reading of the minutes of the 2015 Annual General Meeting
2. Business arising from the minutes
3. Executive Treasurer’s Report
4. Registrar’s Report
5. Deputy Registrar’s Report
6. President’s Address
7. Report of the Elections Committee
8. Committee and Liaison Reports (passed for information as a group)
9. New Business
10. Unfinished Business
11. College of Pharmacy, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba Report and
Notice of Motion
Notice of Motion: Shawn Bugden will move or cause to be moved, seconded by Lavern Vercaigne
“that for the 2017 licensing year, the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba supports a charge to
each member of the College of a $100.00 levy to form part of his or her annual license fee, which
levy is to be forwarded to the College of Pharmacy, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of
Manitoba, to be used exclusively by the College of Pharmacy for programs that enhance the
education of the students enrolled in the undergraduate program of the College of Pharmacy
and/or pharmacists.”

12. Omnibus Motion
13. Adjourn
The Order of Business is designed to allow the formal Annual General Meeting to complete its mandate
of closing the dealings that have been completed for the previous fiscal year. Reports are to encompass
that fiscal year only. Those issues requiring detailed discussion or where resolution cannot be
established will be forwarded to the “Open Discussion” session following the Annual General Meeting
during the pharmacy conference.

Page 1 of 69

The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Annual General Meeting – Rules of Procedure
1. A Notice of Meeting will be forwarded to the entire membership no less than twenty-one
(21) days prior to the scheduled meeting.
2. A quorum is required to convene a meeting and to transact any business. A quorum must
be at least 5% of the voting members in attendance.
3. A Parliamentarian will assist with parliamentary procedure as the need arises.
4. Robert’s Rules of Order will govern.
5. The Chair of the general meeting may permit discussion of motions that are for
information and do not require action by the College. Motions, either simple or by
resolution, accepted at an annual general meeting, or a special general meeting, requiring
action on behalf of the College shall be forwarded to Council for consideration and
decision.
6. All voting members must sign the attendance sign-in sheet.
7. Voting cards will be issued to all voting members.
8. All members and Council members may speak only once to any given resolution and
debate may be limited, unless permission to the contrary is given by the assembly.
9. All persons wishing to address the meeting are requested to speak at the microphone and
are further requested to identify themselves by name before speaking.
10. The Mover and Seconder can speak first, followed by other speakers. The Mover has the
option of being the last speaker to the motion.
11. Speakers must address the chair.
12. All members present are encouraged to engage in discussion, but only voting members
and Council members may make motions and vote.
13. The members of the College consist of the persons whose names are on the register and
who have paid the fees prescribed in the bylaws.
14. Every member who is a licensed pharmacist and members of Council are entitled to vote
at a meeting of the College.
15. Non-members and observers are welcome to attend, but are unable to engage in
discussion or vote.
16. Motion forms will be provided. Motions should be in writing on these forms and the
appropriate copy given to the Chair at the time of making the motion.
Clarification:
 Only licensed pharmacists and Council members have the right to vote; however, all members who
are on the College register and have paid a fee for the current year can speak, but not vote.
 Regarding the right to speak at meetings of the College, Robert’s Rules would apply and the voting
members (licensed pharmacists with a vote) and Council members attending the meeting would
decide in each incident whether or not an attendee at the meeting would have the right to speak.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING MINUTES
APRIL 18, 2015
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING MINUTES
COLLEGE OF PHARMACISTS OF MANITOBA
MINUTES OF THE 137TH ANNUAL MEETING
THE WINNIPEG CONVENTION CENTRE, WINNIPEG, MANITOBA
SATURDAY, APRIL 18, 2015
P RESIDENT GLENDA MARSH called the meeting to order at 11:00 a.m. with 70 members in attendance.
QUORUM DECLARED.
P RESIDENT MARSH welcomed attendees to the 137th Annual Meeting of the College.
P RESIDENT MARSH acknowledged the following guests in attendance:
 Jane Farnham, Canadian Pharmacists Association
 Dr. Brenna Shearer, Manitoba Society of Pharmacists
 Past Presidents of the College
o Pat Trozzo
o Rem Weiss
o Gary Cavanagh
o Shawn Bugden
o Kyle MacNair
MR. DAVID MARR was appointed parliamentarian for the meeting.
THE REGISTRAR read the names of those members who had passed away since the last annual meeting:
“The names I read are the names of pharmacists registered in Manitoba that have passed away since the last
Annual General Meeting. These pharmacists have devoted their career to providing patient care and to
keeping patients safe.
Richard Robson
Reginald Harman
Rene Mulaire
Kristin Cada
Dorothy Murphy
Joseph Yuen
Marty Sexton
John (Jack) Morrow
Keith Lavallee
Paul Cheop

April 20, 2014
May 8, 2014
June 12, 2014
September 29, 2014
November 15, 2014
December 11, 2014
February 16, 2015
February 17, 2015
March 3, 2015
April 14, 2015

It is fitting to honour their passing with a moment of silence.”
A MOMENT OF SILENCE WAS OBSERVED IN MEMORY OF THE ABOVE MEMBERS .
INTRODUCTION BY P RESIDENT MARSH:
The Order of Business is designed to allow the formal Annual General Meeting to complete its mandate in
closing the dealings that have been completed for the previous fiscal year. Reports have been circulated and
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encompass that fiscal year only. By-laws or Regulation changes should be put forward as part of the Annual
General Meeting or as part of a Special General Meeting. Those issues requiring detailed discussion or where
resolution cannot be established will be forwarded to the Issues Forum to be held at the Manitoba Pharmacy
Conference or at a Special General Meeting in accordance with the Pharmaceutical Act.
In accordance with By-Law 3.06 to the Pharmaceutical Act, members are reminded that:
The chair of the general meeting may permit discussion and acceptance of motions that are for
information and do not require action by the College. Motions, either simple or by resolution, accepted at
a general meeting requiring action on behalf of the College shall be forwarded to Council for
consideration and decision.
ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA:
P RESIDENT MARSH stated that the agenda for the meeting had been circulated and asked the membership if
there was any new business they wished to add to the agenda.
No Additions to the Agenda.
1. READING OF THE MINUTES OF THE APRIL 26, 2014, ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING:
MOTION #1: Moved by Kevin Hamilton, Seconded by Petr Prochazka that the reading of the
April 26, 2014, Annual General Meeting Minutes be waived.
CARRIED
MOTION #2: Moved by Kyle MacNair, Seconded by Derrick Sanderson that the April 26, 2014,
Annual General Meeting Minutes be approved.
CARRIED
2. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES
MOTION #3: Moved by Kevin Hamilton, Seconded by Jennifer Ludwig that the Business
Arising from the Minutes of the April 26th, 2014, Annual General Meeting be approved as
published in the Annual Report.
CARRIED
3. EXECUTIVE TREASURER’ S REPORT
MOTION #4: Moved by Jennifer Ludwig, Seconded by Kyle MacNair that the Executive
Treasurer’s Report and the Auditor’s Report be approved.
CARRIED
4. REGISTRAR’S REPORT
MOTION #5: Moved by Derrick Sanderson, Seconded by Brent Booker that the Report of the
Registrar be received by this Annual Meeting.
CARRIED
5. DEPUTY REGISTRAR’S REPORT
MOTION #6: Moved by Jennifer Ludwig, Seconded by Derrick Sanderson that the Report of the
Deputy Registrar be received by this Annual Meeting.
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CARRIED
6. P RESIDENT’S ADDRESS
P RESIDENT MARSH yielded control of the chair to Vice-President Santos:
The Chair asked the President to present her address to the membership.
President’s Address:
“Good morning ladies and gentlemen and welcome to the 137th Annual General Meeting of the
College of Pharmacists of Manitoba. My name is Glenda Marsh and I have had the honor of
serving as the President of the College this past year and have the privilege of addressing our
members today.
Where are we today that we weren’t a year ago? I sat down with Ron on Sunday morning of this
conference last year and he posed the following question to me: “What do you want to
accomplish in your term as President?”
I have to say I immediately thought, “Oh my, nothing like starting the first day on the job with a
toughie, this was going to be a challenging two years!”
After the process of getting the Act & Regulations approved, I, probably like many of you felt
like a boxer who had went 10 rounds with an opponent. Just when you thought you had knocked
them down, they got back up, but alas, we battled to the bell and came out victorious. My
question to Ron was, “What might we have been putting on the back burner with all the work and
time the Regulations have taken these past years?” So, over this year with the guidance of
Council, we persevered with the new Regulations, but also pushed forward tasks such as
increasing the number of pharmacy inspections, assessing hospital practice, and considering steps
forward regarding Quality Assurance aided by the hiring of an additional Field Officer.
You, the members embraced our new practice opportunities and have adapted, prescribed and
injected to the benefit of our patients. Of our total 1,400 practicing pharmacists, we now have 669
certified to inject, 336 & 182 respectively certified to prescribe for minor ailments and smoking
cessation; so you should be commended on your accomplishments, even if we don’t always agree
that we are compensated on an even playing field. With our new Regulations, we were to have
the ability to order lab tests and, of course, this has been more than a frustration, but rest assured
that we at the College are still pushing and working with government to advance this area of
practice. For the first time in over three years, we sat down in a meeting with the Minister of
Health to discuss this important issue, as well as some other items including pharmacy
technicians and have requested that the door remains open on a regular timeline to voice and
share our ideas on the future of pharmacy and the role we play in Manitobans’ healthcare.
Pharmacy received its share of press this year, some of it definitely positive, for example,
surrounding the annual flu shot campaign where for the first time a pharmacist (our very own
Dinah Santos) injected the then Minister of Health. Unfortunately, we were not always portrayed
in the positive light we are normally accustomed to as one of the most trusted healthcare
professionals, and even though I personally feel some of the reports were not a true indicator of
our profession, it gave us pause to reflect on how we do our day to day activities; and remember,
we are here to protect the public and it put some fire in our bellies to stand up for ourselves and
what we do each and every day to help our patients.
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Council, along with College staff and some of our liaison members, participated in a weekend
developing our Strategic Plan for this term and we include updates as part of our regular Council
meetings so we can ensure we are on track with what we set out for our goals and strategies.
Other items from this past year include discussions with the University regarding the new Pharm
D development, hosting district meetings, as well as an awareness campaign to help bring some
understanding to the public what we as pharmacists additionally now have the ability to provide.
I would like to thank all College staff for your hard work for Council and our membership; you
help keep things running smoothly and answer all of our questions, however big or small. Also, a
big thank you to all members who volunteer their time to sit on committees and help support the
profession moving forward each year. A sincere thanks to all members of Council. We have great
individuals on Council and I feel our membership is well represented. We have had many
flavored discussions as well as shared some laughs but when I look around the table, I feel
honored to be part of such an esteemed group.
Our Registrar, Ron Guse is a truly dedicated and well respected individual and we are fortunate to
have him at the helm. His support this past year helped guide me and Council in the right
direction and we wouldn’t have been able to have accomplished what we did this year without his
commitment. Even though we were a relatively new Executive Committee except for Kyle and
we sometimes like to tease Ron about “Girl Power,” we all truly appreciate the role you play in
advancing our profession.
So where are we today? We are over a year into our new Regulations and certainly there are
things we would like to potentially change that aren’t perfect, but I encourage you all to take
advantage of what we do have the ability to do and make sure we keep moving forward. Thank
you to all our members and I hope you keep your chin down and hands up the next time we are in
the ring; I believe we all need a team in our corner to win the crusade, so I hope you feel you can
depend on each other as well as the College to be there for you in the next round.”
VICE-PRESIDENT SANTOS returned control of the Chair to P RESIDENT MARSH.
7. COMMITTEE REPORTS & LIAISON REPORTS:
a) Professional Development Committee Report
b) Standards of Practice Committee
c) National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA) Report
d) Board of Examiners
e) Awards and Nominating Committee
f) Governance Committee
g) Finance & Risk Management Committee
h) Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) Liaison Report
MOTION #7: Moved by Kyle MacNair, Seconded by Kevin Hamilton that the Annual Committee
and Liaison Reports above be approved by the Annual Meeting for information, as amended.
CARRIED
8. NEW BUSINESS
No new business.
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9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
No unfinished business.
10. COLLEGE OF P HARMACY REPORT & NOTICE OF MOTION
MOTION #8: Moved by Neal Davies, Seconded by Kyle MacNair that the College of Pharmacy
Report be accepted for information.
CARRIED
MOTION #9: Moved by Drena Dunford, Seconded by Grace Frankel that for the 2016 licensing
year, the College supports a charge to each member of the College of a $100.00 levy to form part of
his or her annual license fee, which levy is to be forwarded to the College of Pharmacy, Faculty of
Health Sciences, University of Manitoba, to be used exclusively by the College of Pharmacy for
programs that enhance the education of the students enrolled in the undergraduate program of the
College of Pharmacy and/or pharmacists.
CARRIED
11. OMNIBUS MOTION
Mr. Pat Trozzo presented the following motion:
MOTION #10: Moved by Pat Trozzo, Seconded by Pat Cavanagh that all acts, contracts, elections,
appointments and payments made by Council of College of Pharmacists of Manitoba since the
last Annual General Meeting in 2014 as set forth and referred to in the minutes of Council or of
statements submitted to this meeting be the same and are hereby ratified and confirmed.
CARRIED
12. ADJOURN
MOTION #11: Moved by Derrick Sanderson, Seconded by Geoff Namaka that the meeting be
adjourned.
CARRIED
The meeting adjourned at 11:22 a.m.
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BUSINESS ARISING REPORT
FROM THE APRIL 18, 2015, ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
TO THE APRIL 9, 2016, ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
MOTION #9: Moved by Drena Dunford, Seconded by Grace Frankel that for the 2016 licensing
year, the College supports a charge to each member of the College of a $100.00 levy to form part of
his or her annual license fee, which levy is to be forwarded to the College of Pharmacy, Faculty of
Health Sciences, University of Manitoba, to be used exclusively by the College of Pharmacy for
programs that enhance the education of the students enrolled in the undergraduate program of the
College of Pharmacy and/or pharmacists.
CARRIED
The College of Pharmacy, Faculty of Health Sciences University of Manitoba levy was collected with the
2016 pharmacist licence fee and will be forwarded to the College of Pharmacy.
The Annual Report was amended to remove a name from the Awards & Nominating Committee report, as
the person did not meet the requirements for a 50-year member.
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REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE TREASURER
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
The year 2015 showed an operating surplus of $185,921 based on a total revenue of $2,205,324.
The retained earnings of the College as at December 31, 2015, were $2,369,902.
Respectfully submitted,
Jennifer Ludwig
Executive Treasurer
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2016 BUDGET
Revenue
Practicing Fees
Pharmacy Fees
Registration Fees
Non-Practicing Fees
Mailing/Notice Subscription
Pharmacy Transfer Fees
Miscellaneous Income
Fines and Costs
Extended Practice Pharmacists
Academic Register
Pharmacy Pre-Opening Inspection
Pharmacy Technicians
Other Income
Sale of Supplies
Interest Income
Lock and Leave Program
Rental Income
Professional Development Revenue
Distance Care IPS
Ext. Dispensing & Secondary
Hospital
Satellite Pharmacies
Total Other Income
Total Revenue
Operational Expenses
Annual Golf Tournament
Welcome to the Profession
Field Operations
Registrar’s Expenses
Assistant Registrar’s Expenses
Deputy Registrar’s Expenses
Faculty of Pharmacy Levy
NAPRA Delegates
NAPRA Levy
Contributions – Sundry
President’s Honorarium
Council Meetings
Executive Meetings
District Meetings
Annual Meetings
General/Special Meetings
Other Meetings
Complaints Committee
Discipline Committee
Discipline – Legal
Medals & Awards
Young Leaders Awards
Other Conferences & Travel
Total Operational Expenses

1,234,926
455,126
30,240
19,200
300
9,600
15,000
00
1,500
300
5,000
600
1,500
55,000
12,000
7,960
5,000
66,150
15,000
1,030
163,640
1,935,432

00
4,000
12,000
3,250
3,000
2,000
144,100
9,000
60,956
2,500
6,700
72,000
10,000
2,500
14,000
7,500
10,000
14,000
10,000
50,000
13,000
4,000
20,000
474,506

Professional Development
P.D. Program Expenses

27,500

Administration Expenses
CPP Expense
Professional Services
Building – Heat
Building – Light & Water
Building – Maintenance & Repairs
Building – Taxes
Building – Insurance
Staff Development
Delivery Expense
Depreciation. - Office Equipment
Depreciation – Building
Depreciation – Software
Depreciation – Computer Hardware
Depreciation – Reno & Leasehold
Improvement
Depreciation – Photocopier
Dues & Subscriptions
Salaries
Student
Insurance – Group & Liability
Communication Resources
General Resource
Communication Plan Expenses
Database Expenses & I/T
Equipment Maintenance & Lease
Regulation Implementation Costs
Printing & Supplies
Pension Plan
Postage
Sundry
Bank & Transaction Charges
Telephone
EI Expense
External Affairs
Human Resource Support
Total Administration Expenses

15,000
15,000
45,000
10,000
20,000
10,000
52,600
15,000
4,000
48,000
9,500
13,500
10,000
10,000
1,452,868

EXPENSE SUMMARY
Total Operational Expenses
Total P.D. Program Expenses
Total Administration Expenses
Total Expenses

474,506
27,500
1,452,868
1,954,874

TOTAL INCOME
TOTAL EXPENSES
OPERATING SURPLUS (LOSS)
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26,000
64,000
3,800
6,600
25,000
23,000
6,000
7,000
2,000
6,000
00
600
4,900
29,508
3,500
4,500
880,860
00
82,000

1,935,432
(1,954,874)
(19,442)

Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
December 31, 2015
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Independent auditor’s report

Grant Thornton LLP
94 Commerce Drive
Winnipeg, MB
R3P 0Z3
T +1 204 944 0100
F +1 204 957 5442
www.GrantThornton.ca

To the Members of the
College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
We have audited the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements of College of
Pharmacists of Manitoba, which comprise the non-consolidated statement of financial position
as at December 31, 2015, the non-consolidated statement of revenue and expenses, the nonconsolidated statement of changes in net assets, the non-consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these non-consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of non-consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these non-consolidated financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the non-consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
non-consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the non-consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the non-consolidated
financial statements.
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Audit • Tax • Advisory
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

1

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the non-consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of College of Pharmacists of Manitoba as at December 31, 2015, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Winnipeg, Manitoba
March 2, 2016

Chartered Professional Accountants
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Audit • Tax • Advisory
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

2

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Statement of Revenue and Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

Budget
(Note 11)

Actual

Actual

$ 1,229,831
470,000
22,000
18,900
10,500
9,600
500
1,500
500
5,000
2,600

$ 1,228,210
460,844
41,000
70,870
19,550
43,518
11,543
216
1,050
13,500
664

$ 1,153,934
430,605
4,000
35,912
18,780
13,813
11,940
206
600
200
6,500
-

59,535
10,000

66,150
15,000

63,000
11,000

1,840,466

1,972,115

1,750,490

55,000
5,000
10,500
7,803
2,040
1,030
-

101,077
24,579
12,019
7,650
1,580
1,500
82,175
2,629

99,456
50,045
11,697
7,650
1,557
1,500
79,923
124
89,735
17,371

81,373

233,209

359,058

Total revenue

1,921,839

2,205,324

2,109,548

Expenses
M3P
ICPD-OMFC Project
Smoking Cessation Program
Operating expenses (Page 18)
Administration expenses (Page 19)
Professional development (Page 19)

486,647
1,354,050
27,500

82,175
465,984
1,346,899
27,485

79,923
124
89,735
515,112
1,163,473
31,470

$ 1,868,197

$ 1,922,543

$ 1,879,837

Fee revenue
Practicing fees
Pharmacy fees
Fines and costs
Registration fees
Non-practicing fees
Miscellaneous income
Pharmacy transfer fees
Mailing/Notice Subscriptions
Extended practice fees
Academic register
Pharmacy pre-opening inspection
Pharmacy technicians
Distance care – international prescription
services
Extended dispensing/secondary hospitals

Other income
Net investment income
Professional development
Lock and leave program
Rental income
Sale of supplies
Satellite pharmacies
M3P
ICPD-OMFC Project
Smoking Cessation Program
Restricted donation (Note 8)

See accompanying notes to the non-consolidated financial statements.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Statement of Revenue and Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2015
Budget
(Note 11)
Excess of revenue over expenses
from operations

$

Other items
Depreciation (Note 5)
Loss from DIA Management Group Ltd.
(Note 6)
Unrealized (loss) gain on marketable
securities

Excess of revenue over expenses

2014
Actual

53,642

$

282,781

Actual

$

229,711

(53,908)

(57,818)

(66,658)

-

(3,039)

(1,750)

-

(36,003)

78,922

(53,908)

(96,859)

10,514

$

(266)

$

185,921

$

240,225

See accompanying notes to the non-consolidated financial statements.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year Ended December 31,

Invested in
Capital
Assets

Unrestricted

Net assets, beginning
of year
$ 184,913

$ 1,949,068

Excess of revenue over
expenses
Purchase of capital
assets

Internally
restricted
(Note 7)

$

2015
Total

2014
Total

50,000

$ 2,183,981

$ 1,943,756

(57,818)

243,739

-

185,921

240,225

24,434

(24,434)

-

-

-

50,000

$ 2,369,902

$ 2,183,981

Net assets, end of year $ 151,529

$ 2,168,373

$

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31,

2015

Assets
Current
Cash
Marketable securities (Note 3)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Due from DIA Management Group Ltd. (Note 4)

2014

256,939
$ 1,560,429 $
2,618,084
1,614,158
61
10,000
14,119
38,784
210,990
212,804
3,436,175
151,529
935,257
50,000

Capital assets (Note 5)
Investment in DIA Management Group Ltd. (Note 6)
Restricted asset – Due from operating fund (Note 7)

3,100,193
184,913
938,297
50,000

$ 4,572,961 $ 4,273,403
Trust funds
Building fund
Due from operating fund

$

19,335 $

Library fund
Due from operating fund

638
$

19,973 $

18,966

391
19,357

$ 4,592,934 $ 4,292,760

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31,

2015

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Goods and services tax payable
Deferred income (Note 8)
Due to restricted assets (Note 7)
Due to trust funds

$

$

91,028
78,701
1,850,336
50,000
19,357

2,203,059

2,089,422

151,529
50,000
2,168,373

184,913
50,000
1,949,068

2,369,902

2,183,981

$ 4,572,961

$ 4,273,403

$

$

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets
Internally restricted
Unrestricted

Building fund
Balance, beginning of year
Add: interest income

128,420
80,700
1,923,966
50,000
19,973

2014

Balance, end of year
Library fund
Balance, beginning of year
Add: contributions received
Add: interest income
Less: library purchases

18,966
369
19,335

18,966

391
800
7
(560)

744
300
17
(670)

638

391

Balance, end of year
$

18,541
425

19,973

$ 4,592,934

$

19,357

$ 4,292,760

On behalf of the Members of Council

Councillor

Councillor

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
Page 20 of 69

7

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31

2015

Operating activities
Cash receipts
Cash paid to suppliers and employees

$ 2,269,015
(1,909,014)

2014

$ 2,199,997
(1,898,285)

Cash flow from operating activities

360,001

301,712

Investing activities
Purchase of capital assets
Sale (purchase) of marketable securities, net

(24,434)
967,923

(47,782)
(650,713)

Cash flow from investing activities

943,489

(698,495)

1,303,490

(396,783)

Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning of year

653,722

256,939

Cash, end of year

$ 1,560,429

$

256,939

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

1.

Nature of operations

The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba (“College”) was formed under an act of the legislature
of the Province of Manitoba as a body corporate to undertake regulatory activities for the
pharmacy profession. It administers the Pharmaceutical Act (December 2006) and is
responsible for licensing of pharmacists and pharmacies, establishing practice standards and
Code of Ethics, complaint investigation and discipline, monitoring of continuing education of
pharmacists and setting qualifications for pharmacy technicians. The College ensures the
promotion, preservation and protection of the health and safety of the public with respect to the
practice of pharmacy. As a not-for-profit organization, the College is exempt from income tax
on its earnings under Section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation
The College has prepared these financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO).
Fund accounting
The College follows the restricted fund method of accounting. The purpose of the funds are as
follows:
The Operating Fund reflects all of the College’s main activities. The assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses related to program delivery and administration are reported in the Operating
Fund.
The Building Fund was set up for the purpose of future major renovations or re-location. As relocation occurred in 2009 future funds received will be allocated to future improvement. All
revenue and expenses related to building initiatives are reported in the Building Fund and are
shown directly in the Statement of Financial Position.
The Library Fund was set up to record purchases for the library. A $100 allocation is made
whenever a member passes away. All revenue and expenses relating to library initiatives are
reported in the Library Fund and are shown directly in the Statement of Financial Position.
Financial instruments
Initial measurement
The College’s financial instruments are measured at fair value when issued or acquired. For
financial instruments subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost, fair value is adjusted by
the amount of the related financing fees and transaction costs. Transaction costs and financing
fees relating to financial instruments that are measured subsequently at fair value are
recognized in operations in the year in which they are incurred.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Subsequent measurement
At each reporting date, the College measures its financial assets and liabilities at cost or
amortized cost (less impairment in the case of financial assets), except for equities quoted in an
active market, which must be measured at fair value. The College has also irrevocably elected
to measure its investments in bonds at fair value. All changes in fair value of the College’s
investments in equities quoted in the active market and in bonds are recorded in the Statement
of Revenue and Expenses. The College uses the effective interest rate method to amortize
any premiums, discounts, transaction fees and financing fees to the Statement of Revenue and
Expenses. The financial instruments measured at amortized cost are cash, due from DIA
Management Group Ltd., accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and
goods and services tax payable.
For financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost, the College regularly assesses
whether there are any indications of impairment. If there is an indication of impairment, and the
College determines that there is a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount
of future cash flows from the financial asset, it recognizes an impairment loss in the Statement
of Revenue and Expenses. Any reversals of previously recognized impairment losses are
recognized in operations in the year the reversal occurs.
Foreign currency transactions
The College has investments denoted in a foreign currency. The College translates all of its
foreign currency transactions using the temporal method. Cash and investments are translated
at the exchange rate in effect at year end. Investment income is translated at average year
rates. Exchange gains and losses are included in investment income.
Capital assets
Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost. The capital assets are amortized over their
estimated useful lives at the following rates using the straight-line method.
Computer hardware
Computer software
Office equipment
Renovations and leasehold improvements
Lower level renovations

4
1 or 5
10
5
5

years
years
years
years
years

The College regularly reviews its capital assets to eliminate obsolete items.
Investment in DIA Management Group Ltd.
The College purchased 100% of the outstanding shares of DIA Management Group Ltd. (DIA)
on June 30, 2008 for the sole purpose of transferring the ownership of the land and building
located at 200 Taché Avenue in the City of Winnipeg (Pharmacy House). The investment is
being recorded using the equity method where income or losses of DIA are recorded in the
Statement of Revenue and Expenses with a corresponding adjustment to the cost of the
investment.

Page 23 of 69

10

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition
The Operating Fund uses the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Contributions are
recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund in the year in which
the related expenses are incurred. Amounts received in excess of related expenses are
recorded as deferred income. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the
appropriate fund when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably
estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues from fees are recognized for the period in which they relate and when collection is
reasonably assured.
Fines, costs and interest are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount
to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
The Building and Library Funds recognize contributions as revenue in the year they are
received.
Contributed materials and services
Contributed materials and services are recognized at their fair value in the financial statements
when the amount can be reasonably estimated and when the materials and services are used
in the normal course of the organization’s operations and would otherwise have been
purchased.
The College cannot reasonably estimate the number of volunteer hours per year to assist the
College in carrying out its service delivery activities.
Use of estimates
In preparing the College’s financial statements, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

3.

Marketable securities

Marketable securities have been adjusted to fair value for the 2015 year end as disclosed
below:
2015
2014
Market
Cost
Market
Cost
Common shares
Fixed income
Mutual funds
Preferred shares
Foreign securities

$ 271,879
1,098,453
27,004
210,320
6,502

$ 284,443
1,115,483
27,004
220,340
11,649

$ 116,222
1,886,143
591,816
21,200
2,703

$ 105,085
1,907,168
591,816
20,340
2,436

$ 1,614,158

$ 1,658,919

$ 2,618,084

$ 2,626,845

The marketable securities are on account with RBC Dominion Securities and are invested in
GICs, bonds, trusts, mutual funds, common shares, preferred shares, and foreign securities.
Interest rates on fixed income ranges from 1.60% (2014: 1.60%) to 5.95% (2014: 7.30%) and
mature between June, 2018 and March, 2041.

4.

Due from DIA Management Ltd.

The amounts due from DIA Management Group Ltd. arose from cash advances. The advances
bear no interest and have no repayment terms.
During the year the College paid $12 (2014: $12) in rent to DIA Management Group Ltd. This
transaction is in the normal course of business and is measured at the exchange amount
agreed to by both parties.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

5.

Capital assets
Accumulated
Depreciation

Cost
Computer hardware
Computer software
Office equipment
Renovations and leasehold
improvements
Lower level renovations

$

$

34,080
52,500
89,819

15,693
51,900
30,336

2015
Net
Book Value

2014
Net
Book Value

$

$

18,387
600
59,483

17,179
11,100
53,492

110,568
147,538

109,129
75,918

1,439
71,620

2,015
101,127

$ 434,505

$ 282,976

$ 151,529

$ 184,913

Breakdown of depreciation expense is as follows:
2015
Budget
(Note 11)
Computer hardware
Office equipment
Computer software
Renovations and leasehold
improvements
Lower level renovations

$

4,900
9,500
10,000

Actual

$
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53,908

9,199
8,036
10,500

Actual

$

575
29,508

29,508
$

2014

$

57,818

8,973
6,332
10,500
11,345
29,508

$

66,658
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

6.

Investment in DIA Management Group Ltd.

The College controls 100% of DIA Management Group Ltd. (DIA). DIA was incorporated under
the Corporations Act of Manitoba on March 26, 1991 with its only business activity being
management of Pharmacy House. DIA has not been consolidated in the College’s financial
statements. The College is accounting for its investment in DIA using the equity method where
the shares of income or losses are recorded as part of the cost of the investment. Financial
statements of DIA are available on request.
Financial summaries of this unconsolidated entity as at December 31, 2015 and December 31,
2014 and for the years then ended are as follows:
2014

2015
Financial position
Total assets
Total liabilities

$

284,871
(214,804)

$

286,097
(212,991)

Total net assets

$

70,067

$

73,106

Results of operations
Total revenue
Total expenses

$

12
(3,051)

$

12
(1,762)

Deficiency of revenue over expenses

$

(3,039)

$

(1,750)

Cash flows
Cash from operating activities
Cash from financing activities

$

(3,039)
1,813

$

(1,750)
1,371

Decrease in cash flows

$

(1,226)

$

(379)
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

7.

Internally restricted net assets

Certain net assets of the College are internally restricted for legal defence purposes ($50,000).

8.

Deferred income
2015

2014

Fees
M3P
ICPD-OMFC Project
District 5 NABP Study Grant
Restricted donation

$ 1,737,071
182,668
3,213
1,014
-

$ 1,665,076
178,404
3,213
1,014
2,629

Net contributions deferred

$ 1,923,966

$ 1,850,336

Manitoba Prescribing Practices Program (M3P) is composed of the following cumulative to
date amounts:
Contributions received

$

Expenses
Administrative staff
Distribution
Equipment use
Group insurance
Occupancy
Prescription forms
Professional consulting

823,462

$

184,694
39,863
1,380
20,312
52,350
251,918
8,103

206,294
46,128
1,380
24,197
60,000
294,028
8,767

Net contributions deferred
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737,024

$

640,794

$

558,620

$

182,668

$

178,404
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

8.

Deferred income (continued)
2015

2014

ICPD-OMFC Project is composed on the following cumulative to date amounts:
Contributions received

$

Expenses
Consulting
Miscellaneous
Professional fees
Salary

Net contributions deferred

18,337

$

18,337

11,417
727
2,874
106

11,417
727
2,874
106
$

15,124

$

15,124

$

3,213

$

3,213

District 5 NABP Study Grant program is composed of the following cumulative to date
amounts:
Contributions received

$

Expenses
Administrative staff
Survey
Training

Net contributions deferred

3,587

$

3,587

338
735
1,500

338
735
1,500
$

2,573

$

2,573

$

1,014

$

1,014

Restricted donation is composed of the following cumulative to date amounts:
Contributions received

$

20,000

$

20,000

Purchase of capital asset

$

20,000

$

17,371

Net contributions deferred

$

-

$

2,629

9.

Financial instruments risks

The College is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a
comprehensive risk management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The
following analysis provides information about the College’s risk exposure and concentrations as
of December 31, 2015.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
College is exposed to credit risk from members. The College has minimized concentration of
credit risk by requiring members to pay their fees in order to continue their membership.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Notes to the Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

9.

Financial instruments (continued)
(b) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or expected future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three
types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.
(i) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The College is exposed to
currency risk primarily through its marketable securities.
(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely
affected by a change in the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest
rate fluctuations, the College manages exposure through its normal operating and
financing activities. The College is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its
marketable securities.
(iii) Other price risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest
rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market.

10.

Operating lease commitment

The College entered into a mailing equipment lease in 2013. The College’s total future
minimum lease payments under operating lease commitments for the next three years are as
follows:
2016
2017
2018

11.

$

5,987
5,987
5,987

$

17,961

Budget

The budget figures, which are presented for comparison purposes only, are unaudited.
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Schedule of Operating Expenses
Year Ended December 31,

2015
Budget
(Note 11)
Operating expenses
Annual meeting
Assistant registrar’s expenses
Complaints and discipline expense1
Contributions – Library fund
Contributions - sundry
Council meetings
Deputy registrar’s expenses
District meetings
Executive meetings
Faculty of Pharmacy levy
Field operations
General and special meetings
Grads’ ceremony
Medals and awards
NAPRA delegates
NAPRA levy
Other conference and travel
Other meetings
President’s honorarium
Registrar’s expenses
Regulation implementation costs
Young leaders awards

1

2014
Actual

Actual

$

14,000
3,000
72,000
2,500
46,000
2,000
2,500
10,000
146,800
12,000
7,500
4,000
13,000
9,000
64,997
20,000
10,000
6,600
3,250
35,000
2,500

$

14,069
2,040
87,555
800
2,160
38,178
258
2,153
11,175
148,400
11,327
1,168
4,000
13,827
10,362
64,997
22,064
10,113
6,600
1,797
8,393
4,548

$

12,790
2,611
102,267
300
1,810
66,153
1,226
8
11,165
148,100
6,152
4,000
18,875
7,745
64,368
19,835
7,120
6,600
1,996
27,926
4,065

$

486,647

$

465,984

$

515,112

This is comprised of the discipline and complaints committees and related legal fees.

Page 31 of 69

18

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Non-Consolidated Schedule of Administrative and
Professional Development Expenses
Year Ended December 31,

2015
Budget
(Note 11)
Administrative
Bank and credit card charges
Building – heat
Building – insurance
Building – light and water
Building – maintenance and repairs
Building – rent and taxes (Note 4)
Canada Pension Plan
Communication resources
Computer and information technology
Delivery
Dues and subscriptions
Employment insurance
Equipment maintenance
External affairs
Human resource support
Insurance – group and liability
Pension plan
Postage
Printing and supplies
Professional fees
Salaries
Staff development
Sundry
Telephone

Professional development
Program

$

48,000
3,800
6,000
6,600
22,000
22,000
26,000
40,000
35,000
2,000
4,500
13,500
10,000
20,000
10,000
82,000
41,500
15,000
10,000
64,000
851,650
7,000
4,000
9,500

2014
Actual

Actual

$

52,348
2,279
2,948
5,920
23,054
22,613
22,625
24,874
33,486
1,028
4,297
10,754
10,863
26,685
42,710
71,558
51,440
12,568
15,640
54,531
834,922
3,459
4,953
11,344

$

47,419
1,511
3,739
6,539
33,393
21,839
22,025
11,275
32,861
1,061
3,306
10,172
4,032
20,000
3,372
62,902
42,335
19,231
12,785
53,218
735,778
4,902
2,735
7,043

$ 1,354,050

$ 1,346,899

$ 1,163,473

$

$

$
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27,485

31,470

19

REGISTRAR’S REPORT
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
SATURDAY, APRIL 9, 2016
This report contains the noted activities of the College and staff for 2015 and early 2016 and is structured
to address key strategies and goals set by Council.

Enhance the quality assurance program for pharmacy practice
Quality Assurance Committee
Quality assurance (QA) in pharmacy practice is and has always been the mandate of the College of
Pharmacists of Manitoba. Licensing requirements for continuing professional development and practice
hours for pharmacists, physical site requirements of pharmacies for licensing, and on-site inspections of
pharmacies to assess pharmacy practice, are just some of the current QA processes by which the College
works to ensure quality in pharmacy practice. Over the years, however, it has become increasingly
evident that there are many factors that influence quality in pharmacy practice and there is a need to
develop integrative approaches that more accurately measure the performance of pharmacists to ensure
quality in practice. Following Council’s most recent Strategic Planning Session held in October of 2014,
Council approved a motion to introduce a QA Committee with the expressed purpose of integrating
existing QA processes of the College to more effectively amalgamate knowledge, information and
resources utilized in the overall CPhM QA/Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) Program. Since that
time, work has been done to consider a re-structuring of the CPhM’s Professional Development and
Standards of Practice Committees to become divisions within the overall QA Committee to facilitate this
integration.
The mandate of the QA Committee is to serve as a resource to Council in matters related to QA and CQI
in pharmacy practice. The QA Committee provides oversight, monitors and evaluates the College’s
QA/CQI Program and makes recommendations in compliance on program enhancements that will
improve pharmacy practice and patient safety. The QA Committee held its first meeting on December 15,
2015.
National Sterile Compounding Standards
The National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA) posted the Non-Hazardous
Product Sterile Compounding Standards early in January 2016. By the time of the Annual General
Meeting, but not at the time of writing of this report, the Hazardous Product Sterile Compounding
Standards will be posted as well. The College Council will be implementing a consultation process with
the ultimate goal of these standards being adopted or adapted as a practice direction in Manitoba. During
2016, work will begin at NAPRA for the development of national non-sterile compounding standards
through the National Advisory Committee on Pharmacy Practice.
Drug Shortages
Assistant Registrar Kim McIntosh is the College representative on the monthly teleconferences for
Manitoba Health’s Manitoba Community Drug Shortages Committee. The committee tasks are to:
 Provide an update on the status of current drug shortages,
 Advise regarding process-related issues associated with drug shortages, and
 Distribute information related to drug shortages as required.
Exempted Codeine Preparations (ExCP)
The College Council decision in 2015 to develop a Practice Direction to change the status of ExCP
products to prescription only in Manitoba, was implemented on February 1st, 2016. This change supports

Page 33 of 69

harm reduction initiatives of the provincial government and are consistent with additional controls being
implemented for the sale of these products in other provinces. Manitoba was the first province to make
the product available only on prescription. The real patient care value of this change is the requirement for
the prescription to be entered into the Drug Programs Information Network (DPIN) when it is dispensed.
This change has been reported throughout Canada by the media and other provinces are considering
making a similar requirement. A comprehensive public awareness campaign has been implemented.
Pharmacists’ Gateway Canada for International Pharmacists
NAPRA’s Gateway Canada aims to streamline and centralize the process for registration of international
pharmacy graduates (IPGs). Once fully operational for Manitoba, it is anticipated that Gateway Canada
should provide for more standardized credentialing of IPG applicants and facilitate an exchange of this
information from the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) and between the provinces. By the
end of 2015, the College had received the first IPG applicant through Gateway Canada.

Continue to operationalize the 2006 Pharmaceutical Act
Work continued throughout 2015 to fully implement the “new” Pharmaceutical Act (Act).
 The College introduced the listing of the first pharmacy technicians in the province that have
successfully completed entry to practice requirements.
 Council engaged members in a consultation and approval process to develop and introduce several
new Practice Directions in accordance with the Act and regulations.
 In December, the members passed regulations to change schedule 3 (self-limiting conditions) and
schedule 2 (publically funded vaccinations).
 The College has continued discussions with Manitoba Health on operationalization of test ordering by
pharmacists.
 In December, pharmacist profiles were posted on the College website in compliance with the
legislation.

Build and strengthen relationships with stakeholders
Public Awareness Campaign
The College developed a public service announcement (PSA) to raise the public’s awareness of the
expanded role of the pharmacist and the quality of care that can be expected from a pharmacist. The PSA
was aired on many occasions at the end of 2014, but also continued in early 2015. As well in 2015, the
College’s public awareness campaign included signage on City of Winnipeg buses.
Physician Assisted Dying (PAD)
The College has been actively involved in discussions with Manitoba Health, Healthy Living and Seniors
and the Colleges of Physicians and Surgeons and Registered Nurses of Manitoba among other groups
regarding the implementation and provision of PAD. The patient’s rights to access this end-of-life care is
primary. At the time of the writing of this report, the issues involved in the provision of PAD are complex
and most notably relate to the lack of federal legislation that will provide protection from criminal
prosecution for nurses, pharmacists and other health providers who assist in the provision of PAD.
Pharmacists who harbor objections to providing or participating in this form of end-of-life care must
participate in a system that is designed to respect the patient’s right to receive this service. NAPRA is
currently developing very broad statements to support the pharmacist’s involvement in the provision of
PAD.
Manitoba Institute for Patient Safety (MIPS)
Deputy Registrar Susan Lessard-Friesen was elected to the Board of MIPS in June and also serves on the
MIPS Board Development Committee.
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College of Pharmacy, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba
In 2015, College staff has continued to support the undergraduate program of the College of Pharmacy
through provision of the second-year jurisprudence course and contribution to the fourth-year Current
Topics lectures. In addition, Registrar Ronald Guse participated on the Advisory Committee and the
Deputy Registrar participated on the Experiential Working Group for the development and
implementation of the entry level Pharm.D. program at the university.

Effective management of all College resources
(staff, volunteers, finances, inventory)
Pharmacy House - 200 Tache update
Over the last year, Pharmacy House has been improved by the addition of an audio-visual system in the
lower level. This was accomplished through the financial support of Mrs. Irene Lewis, in memory of her
brother, Dr. Roman “Roy” Bilous and additional funds made available by Council. All the pictures of the
Association/College Presidents, dating back to 1878, have been put on display, thanks to Past President
Albert Eros. In addition, an AED has been installed in the building and staff has received training on the
proper use of this life-saving device.
Manitoba Prescribing Practices Program (M3P)
The government continues to receive services from the College with respect to the administration of the
Manitoba Prescribing Practices Program. The volume of work is increasing with the increase of
prescribers authorized to issue M3P forms. During 2015, the College has reviewed and improved the
security measures of the forms. The College files quarterly financial statements for the funds received
from Manitoba Health in support of the M3P program.
During 2015, 8,932 M3P prescription pads were distributed in response to 2,026 physician, 81 nurse
practitioner, 21 veterinarian and 7 dentist requests. The College issued 33 hand-written “emergency pads”
to authorized practitioners who failed to reorder their forms in a timely manner. Further information can
be seen in the College financial statement in the annual report booklet.
In closing,
After 32 years of service to the College, Registrar Ronald F. Guse announced his retirement set to begin
on January 29th, 2016. Throughout his tenure at the College and particularly in the past 17 years as
Registrar, Ronald Guse’s contribution to the profession of pharmacy, pharmacy practice and the College’s
work to improve patient care and safety have been immeasurable. His willingness to go the extra mile, to
attempt to make a difference each and every day and to meet challenges head-on, has been inspiring.
Registrar Guse has assembled a great team to carry on the College’s work in his retirement. He has helped
to instill in each of us the understanding that no matter what the task, big or small, our work does in some
way make a difference in protecting the public. I would like to thank my co-workers for their hard work
in this respect over the past year and I look forward to continuing our good work in the years to come.
I would also like to thank President Glenda Marsh and Council for their guidance and support over this
past year. I am honored to move into the position of Registrar with the College of Pharmacists of
Manitoba and look forward with excitement to what the future may hold.
Respectfully submitted,
Susan Lessard-Friesen, Registrar
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University of Manitoba Faculty of Pharmacy
Student Registration in 2015
Two Hundred and Twenty-Nine (229) applications were received to enter first-year pharmacy for the
2015-2016 sessions. The following students were accepted:
Kiranpreet Bassan
Victoria Bertram
Sandeep Bhumber
Matthieu Boulet
Garet Burzuik
Jonnar Cabrera
Marina Cameron
Kailee Cartman
Kara Chan
Nicholas Cochrane
Kelsey Conrad
Nicole Corado
Faustina Dalmacio
Roberto Duarte (Fernandez)
Brett Eggie
Michelle Ernest
Joshua Germino

Kiana Gozda
Rayman Hu
Tyson Huynh
Sarah Kohja
Jennifer Kritzer
Sarah Landry
Lillian Lau
Vincent Law
Marikka Lee
Stephanie Leong
Winnie Li
Kara Lipski
Wenzhuo (Gabriel) Luo
Roubir Mansour
Evan Maryniuk
Samantha Moreau
Mackenzie Murray

Samantha Myers
Jordan Nickerson
Dominic Omega
Sareena Panchhi
Lovepreet Rai
Steven Romaniuk
Deepak Samra
Shubhkarman Sandhawalia
Brodie Sigurdson
Rachel Sime
Leila Soufi
Anna Van Dekerkhove
Sydney Warkentin
Karyn Wiebe
Matthew Williams
Nicholas Yam
Kelly Yeo

Registration of Graduates from the
University of Manitoba Faculty of Pharmacy in 2015
ADRIA, Jessica
BADEJO, Grace
CAMPBELL, Tyler
CHABOYER, Kevin
CHOHAN, Shawn
DAMSEL, Rick
DE LEMOS, Geraldine
DEONARINE, Jaclyn
DUDYCH, Alysha
FOGG, Kathleen
FRANKLIN, Jesse
GOBIN, Melissa
HABTE, Ruth
HART, Joel
HERNDEN, Bradley
HETHERINGTON, Aimee
HO, Joseph
JAYASINGHE, Himath
JOHNSON, Trevor
KALER, Inderpaul
KAMINSKI, Linnaea
KIM, Daehong

July 14, 2015
August 4, 2015
July 17, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 16, 2015
July 10, 2015
July 6, 2015
August 18, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 14, 2015
July 6, 2015
September 2, 2015
July 7, 2015
August 18, 2015
July 16, 2015
August 24, 2015
July 7, 2015
July 27, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 6, 2015

KIM, John
LEI, Alexander
LO, Amy
LOVE, Riley
LUC, Jenny
MAZINKE, Amanda
NEUFELD, Janice
NEWLANDS, Laura
NGO, Jeffrey
PEREZ, P.J. Marlon
PERSAUD, Ryan
PONCSAK, Kristen
ROSSI, Daniel
RUSSELL, Curtis
SACCO, Antonio
SANDHU, Jasdeep
SHUSTER, Samuel
SINGH, Kulwant
ST. GODDARD, Nicholis
TAILOR, Franil
WALLACK, Amanda
YOUNG, Jennifer
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December 17, 2015
Oct 13/15
July 9, 2015
July 6, 2015
August 7, 2015
July 7, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 13, 2015
August 10, 2015
July 6, 2015
August 4, 2015
July 17, 2015
July 7, 2015
August 7, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 15, 2015
July 8, 2015
July 6, 2015
July 7, 2015
July 7, 2015
August 17, 2015
July 16, 2015

Registration of Graduates from Schools or Colleges
Other than the University of Manitoba
Name
ABD EL MALEK, Nermin
ABDALLA, Nasser
ABDELSALAM, Mohsen
ABU FADALEH, Maha
ACHARYA, Samip
ADAMJI, Arif
ADEGBITE, Joyce
AKINWUMI, Bolanle
ALANSARI, Noha
AL-DULAIMI, Nisreen
ALMALKY, Baraa
ATIA, John
BAKER, Kelsey
BASIL, Sonia
BEHERA, Mira
BHAVSAR, Praful
BOUTROS, Nivin
BREITENMOSER, Barbara
BRIZUELA, Karen Mae
CANEZA, Mara Salve
CHAHAL, Bikramjeet
CHAHAL, Jashanjeet
CHEEMA, Mosayyab
DOAS, Manal
ELSAFTAWY, Noha
ELYAS, Magda
FORIEG, Ehab
GETSON, Heather
GHATTAS, Safwat
GULIA, Vikas
HADDAD, Khaled
HANNA, Atef
HANNA, Kareem
HARRICHARAN, Sharada
Hermogeno, Ofelia
HUSSEIN, Reem
IBRAHIM, Emad
KAUR, Manpreet
KHANNA, Bhavya
KIRSCHMAN, Chelsea
KIRYAKOS, Sara
KUMRA, Ruchi
KUNG, Melissa
LAU, Pui Yu
LOULOU, Ruba
LOW, Andrew
MAAWAD, Hany

Country/Province, Year
Egypt, 2001
Syria, 1997
Egypt, 1996
Jordan, 2003
India, 2009
England, 1993
Nigeria, 1991
Nigeria, 2006
Egypt, 2001
Iraq, 1990
Egypt, 2012
Egypt, 2009
Saskatchewan, 2015
United Kingdom, 2011
Egypt, 2005
India, 1976
Egypt, 1992
British Columbia, 1972
Philippines, 2011
Philippines, 2000
India, 2005 (through MA)
India, 2009
Pakistan, 2005 (through MA)
Egypt, 2006
Egypt, 2004
Egypt, 2004
Libya, 2003
Saskatchewan, 2015
Egypt, 2001
India, 2009
Egypt, 2010
Egypt, 1992
Egypt, 2010
United Kingdom, 2012
Philippines, 1997 (through MA)
Jordan, 2007
Egypt, 2005
India, 2004
India, 2008
Saskatchewan, 2015
Jordan, 2011
Ontario, 2005
Saskatchewan, 2014
Ontario, 2011
United Arab Emirates
British Columbia, 2012
Egypt, 2001 (through MA)
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Registration Date
August 5, 2015
August 5, 2015
August 21, 2015
June 3, 2015
October 7, 2015
September 23, 2015
January 12, 2015
May 14, 2015
September 23, 2015
April 23, 2015
November 17, 2015
February 10, 2015
September 1, 2015
August 19, 2015
September 29, 2015
March 24, 2015
August 18, 2015
March 24, 2015
September 4, 2015
April 13, 2015
August 25, 2015
August 13, 2015
August 13, 2015
October 7, 2015
October 7, 2015
January 7, 2015
September 4, 2015
August 19, 2015
May 6, 2015
October 20, 2015
August 13, 2015
September 4, 2015
February 13, 2015
July 7, 2015
June 18, 2015
May 14, 2015
August 13, 2015
September 4, 2015
January 12, 2015
September 23, 2015
August 18, 2015
December 21, 2015
June 3, 2015
October 29, 2015
December 21, 2015
March 26, 2015
April 9, 2015

MARCIL, Alexandra
MCCREATH, Derek
MICHAUD, Sonya
MISTRY, Tejal
NAKKASH, Yasmin
NASRALLA, Nevine
NAVARRO, Emma Grace
OLNEY, Heather
PASCUAL, Jocelyn
PATEL, Bhagyesh
PATEL, Chiragkumar
PATEL, Jatinkumar
PATEL, Jeet
PATEL, Mitesh
PATEL, Ronakkumar
PATEL, Ronakkumar
PATEL, Sanjaykumar
PATEL, Utsav
PRAJAPATI, Arpit
SALIDIS, Lilianne
SINGH, Vandana
SONBOL, Mary
SOROUR, Mary
THERRIEN, Andrew
VACHHANI, Bansiben
YURKEWICH, Jenna

Ontario, 2008
Ontario, 2012
New Brunswick, 2008
India, 2010
Jordan, 2011
Egypt, 1996
Philippines, 2004 (through MA)
Saskatchewan, 2013
Philippines, 1996
India, 1999
India, 2011
India, 2010
India, 2011
India, 2010
India, 2008
India, 2009
India, 2011
India, 2010
India, 2011 (through MA)
Egypt, 2004
India, 2002
Egypt, 1987
Egypt, 2003
Saskatchewan, 2015
India, 2011
Saskatchewan, 2014

October 7, 2015
March 24, 2015
August 13, 2015
August 5, 2015
August 5, 2015
December 21, 2015
March 24, 2015
August 13, 2015
January 13, 2015
August 5, 2015
July 7, 2015
November 9, 2015
August 5, 2015
August 13, 2015
August 4, 2015
December 21, 2015
September 23, 2015
October 20, 2015
October 7, 2015
Augusts 19, 2015
September 16, 2015
August 18, 2015
August 13, 2015
October 7, 2015
February 24, 2015
March 26, 2015

New Pharmacies Opened
(January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015)
Pharmacy Name

Owned By

City

Date Opened

Kennedy Pharmacy
Wal-Mart Pharmacy #1186
Pharmacie Centre de Santé
La Broquerie
Care At Home Pharmacy
Higgins Pharmacy
St. Laurent Pharmacy
Shoppers Drug Mart #6073
Machray Pharmacy
St. Adolphe Pharmacy
Flatland Drugs
Assiniboine Pharmacy
Keewatin Medical Pharmacy

7005075 Manitoba Ltd.
Wal-Mart Pharmacy Limited
Pharmacie Centre de Santé
La Broquerie Ltee.
Care At Home Pharmacy Inc.
Higgins Pharmacy 2014 Inc.
Hanna Drug Mart Inc.
8796823 Canada Inc.
St. Wannas Pharmacies Ltd.
St. Adolphe Pharmacy Inc.
Flatland Drugs Ltd.
7046741 Manitoba Ltd.
Keewatin Medical Centre
and Pharmacy Inc.
Medic-X Pharmacy Inc.
Bachu Purohit Pharmacy Ltd.
PSC Holdings Ltd.
6342486 Manitoba Ltd.
River Heights Pharmacy Ltd.

Winnipeg
Winnipeg
La Broquerie

January 26, 2015
January 29, 2015
February 2, 2015

Winnipeg
Winnipeg
St. Laurent
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
St. Adolphe
Brandon
Winnipeg
Winnipeg

February 10, 2015
March 2, 2015
March 23, 2015
March 23, 2015
April 16, 2015
April 30, 2015
May 1, 2015
May 1, 2015
May 6, 2015

Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Brandon
Fort Alexander
Winnipeg

June 22, 2015
July 16, 2015
October 19, 2015
October 23, 2015
December 28, 2015

Medic-X Pharmacy
Shoppers Drug Mart #2502
Pharmasave #478
Fort Alexander Pharmacy
River Heights Pharmacy
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Pharmacies Closed
(January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015)
Pharmacy Name
Rexall Pharma Plus #4838
Clinic One Pharmacy
Target Pharmacy #3682
Target Pharmacy #7012
Guest Pharma
Target Pharmacy #3747
North Point Pharmacy
Kennedy Pharmacy
Fort Alexander Pharmacy
Jordan Rae’s International Pharmacy Ltd.
Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #4825

Location
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Winnipeg
Fort Alexander
Winnipeg
Winnipeg

Date Closed
January 9, 2015
January 16, 2015
February 6, 2015
February 13, 2015
February 15, 2015
February 28, 2015
March 9, 2015
April 22, 2015
July 16, 2015
September 5, 2015
November 10, 2015

Licensing
During the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2015, the following licenses and memberships were
issued:
1,436
163
8
2
8
34

Practicing Licenses
Non-Practicing Licenses
Honorary Life Members (practicing)
Honorary Life Members (non-practicing)
Honorary Members
Mailing Notice Subscribers

Pharmacy Licenses were issued to 408 pharmacies:
363 Community (Non-IPS)
9 Community (IPS)
36 Hospital

Passages
Since our last Annual Meeting, a number of our esteemed and valued Members have passed on, namely:
Paul Cheop
Heather Milan
David Boonov
Robert Bertram
Benjamin Chochinov

April 14, 2015
June 17, 2015
July 22, 2015
August 20, 2015
September 17, 2015

Francis Atwell
Julius Bayomi
Lawrence Hamin
Nancy Fishman
R. Bruce Barteaux
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September 20, 2015
September 26, 2015
October 9, 2015
October 16, 2015
November 14, 2015

DEPUTY REGISTRAR REPORT
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
Quality Assurance and Continuous Quality Improvement
The Deputy Registrar oversees Quality Assurance (QA) and Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI)
initiatives and activities of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba (College).
In College Operations and Processes
The Fair Registration Practices in Regulated Professions Act and the Office of the Manitoba Fairness
Commissioner
It is the responsibility of the Office of the Manitoba Fairness Commissioner (OMFC) to ensure all
provincial regulatory authorities (PRAs) are in compliance with the Fair Registration Practices in
Regulated Professions Act. Throughout 2015, the College has been involved in addressing the OMFC’s
reporting requirements and recommendations set out in the College’s Registration Review and Action
Plan by:
 improving the information provided to international pharmacy graduate (IPG) applicants on the
College’s website;
 referring IPG applicants to pharmacy advocacy groups (CSHP-MB Branch, Pharmacists Manitoba)
for assistance in securing suitable internship sites; and,
 working with the National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA), the other
pharmacy regulatory authorities (PRAs) and the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) on
the successful launch of Pharmacists’ Gateway Canada for international pharmacists, a single portal
or point of entry for IPGs seeking licensure in Canada.
In Pharmacy Practice________________________________________________
The College’s Quality Assurance (QA)/Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) Program
The College’s QA/CQI Program consists of several components including, but not limited to:
 the learning portfolio system
 the QA self-assessment and onsite inspection process
 the complaints resolution process
At Council’s most recent strategic planning session, it was determined that the College should look at
ways in which the QA/CQI Program can be improved by including additional assessment processes that
more accurately reflect performance. It was also suggested that the College consider a new Quality
Assurance Committee to oversee this process and make recommendations to Council on program
improvements. The mandate of the QA Committee is to serve as a resource to Council in matters related
to quality assurance and continuous quality improvement in pharmacy practice. The QA Committee will
provide oversight, monitor and evaluate the College’s QA/CQI Program and make recommendations in
compliance with guiding principles to Council on program enhancements that will improve pharmacy
practice and patient safety. In an effort to facilitate integration of the College’s quality assurance
processes, it was decided to restructure the CPhM’s Professional Development and Standards of Practice
Committees to become divisions within the overall QA Committee. The first meeting of the QA
Committee took place on December 15th, 2015.
In Pharmacies_____________________________________________________
At December 31st, 2015, there were four hundred eight (408) licensed pharmacies in Manitoba.
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Manitoba Location
Winnipeg
City or Town (population
10,000 to 50,000)*

12

Community
(Includes IPS)
226

Total
(Includes IPS)
238

7

38

45

Hospital

IPS
8
-

Rural
17
108
125
1
Total
36
372
408
9
* Manitoba municipal populations of 10,000 to 50,000 include Thompson, The Pas, Portage la Prairie,
Winkler/Morden and Brandon
During the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015, there were eleven (11) pharmacy closings
and seventeen (17) pharmacy openings.
Rural
Cityor Town
Winnipeg
Manitoba
Change
Total
(population 10,000
Pharmacies Closing
Pharmacies Opening

to 50,000)*

( population
< 10,000)

0
2

1
4

10
11

11
17

* Manitoba municipal populations of 10,000 to 50,000 include Thompson, The Pas, Portage la Prairie,
Winkler/Morden and Brandon
QA Self-Assessment and Onsite Inspection Process
The goal of the QA/CQI Program is for each pharmacy to undertake a QA Self-Assessment on an annual
basis and for an onsite inspection and practice review to be conducted at the pharmacy at least once
within a 5-year period.
For the period January 1 to December 31, 2015, a total of 148 pharmacy inspections were conducted in
association with:
 Routine pharmacy inspections - 94 site visits;
 New pharmacy openings - 41 site visits;
 Pharmacy renovations - 3 site visits; and,
 Pharmacy relocations - 9 site visits and 1 inspection by Skype.
In excess of 50 investigations were also conducted during this time period in relation to complaints filed,
forgery reports and other issues reported to the College. Recently, several of these investigations were in
response to issues raised by Manitoba Health’s Manitoba Monitored Drugs Review Committee
(MMDRC).
Complaints Resolution Process
As part of the College’s commitment to enhance quality of care and patient safety in Manitoba
pharmacies, Council has requested that the Complaints Committee communicate information on
medication incidents through the regularly published Practice Advisories for Patient Safety column of the
Newsletter. By communicating this information, pharmacists are provided with an opportunity to reflect
on the incident and their own practice to discover ways to improve.
Number of Complaints Received Each Year
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
16
25
34
28
23

2015
31
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During the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015, a total of 31 formal complaints were filed
with the College.
Decisions of the Complaints Committee
In accordance with the Pharmaceutical Act (Act), the Complaints Committee may, after review or
investigation, with regard to the original complaint or any other matter that arose during the course of
investigation,
a) direct that the matter be referred, in whole or in part, to the Discipline Committee;
b) direct that the matter not be referred to the Discipline Committee;
c) accept the voluntary surrender of an investigated person's registration, a member's pharmacist
licence, and/or an owner's pharmacy licence;
d) censure the investigated person;
e) refer the matter to mediation; or
f) enter into an agreement with the investigated person that provides for assessment, counseling or
treatment, monitoring or supervising, remedial training and/or placing conditions on the
investigated person's right to practise pharmacy or operate a pharmacy.
Despite anything in the Act, if the Complaints Committee believes that an investigated person's conduct
presents or is likely to present a serious risk to the public, it may direct the registrar to suspend the
certificate of registration, pharmacist licence, and/or pharmacy licence held by the investigated person.
During the period of January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015, the Complaints Committee made 37
decisions in a total of 26 complaint cases with the following dispositions (note: some cases involved
more than one investigated person and/or had more than one outcome).
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Referral to Discipline Committee – 1 decision
Not Referred – 28 decisions
Acceptance of Voluntary Surrender of Licence – 1 decision
Censure – 3 decisions
Mediation – 0
Conditions on Licence – 1 decision
Suspension of Licence – 3 decisions

Issues Identified and Addressed Through the Inspection and Complaints Resolution Processes
In 2015, the most common issues identified and addressed through the inspection and complaints
resolution processes were:
1. Privacy and Confidentiality of Personal Health Information
This issue relates to the lack of privacy and confidentiality experienced by patients with respect to the
use, misuse and exchange of personal health information (PHI) within the pharmacy. Specific
examples include:
 prescription information left in view of other patients/customers in the dispensary or on the
dispensary counter
 prescription information and discussions with pharmacists involving medication/medical
histories and patient counseling on medications overheard by other patients/customers in the
pharmacy
 viewing a patient’s PHI without their consent
 use of PHI by pharmacy managers and owners to solicit the transfer of patient prescriptions
from one pharmacy to another
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2. Responding to Medication Incidents and Discrepancies
The importance of responding to medication incidents and discrepancies in accordance with the
Standards of Practice and Practice Directions in order to prevent a recurrence cannot be over
emphasized. The primary concern of patients is that when a medication error has occurred, pharmacy
staff have investigated the cause of the error and corrected dispensing processes and changed practice
to prevent a recurrence of the error.
3. Importance of Conducting Regular Perpetual Inventory Counts of Narcotic and Controlled Drug
Supplies Returned By Patients or Expired and Waiting for Destruction
Problematic situations can and do occur when access to expired and returned supplies of narcotics and
controlled drugs waiting for destruction, have gone unnoticed because the pharmacy does not conduct
regular perpetual inventory counts of these drugs.
In Communication and Member/Professional/Public Relations________________
Canadian Patient Safety Week (CPSW) and Canada's Virtual Forum on Patient Safety and Quality
Improvement
Canadian Patient Safety Week is a national campaign aimed at inspiring extraordinary improvement in
patient safety and quality. The theme is “Ask. Listen. Talk.”, with a particular emphasis in 2015 on
medication safety, as medication incidents continue to be a major patient safety issue. In 2015, the
College was a registered participant and endorser of CPSW and the virtual forum.
In closing, I would like to thank Council, the Registrar and my co-workers at the College for their
continued guidance and support throughout a very busy and productive year.
Respectfully submitted,
Susan Lessard-Friesen
Deputy Registrar
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PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
OF THE QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE
(FORMERLY THE PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE)
REPORT TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
Mandate
The purpose of the Professional Development (PD) Division is to advise and make recommendations on
all matters related to the continuing professional development, competency assurance and performance
assessment of pharmacists to ensure and promote practice improvement and the provision of safe,
effective and progressive patient-centred care.
Structure
The PD Committee was restructured as the PD Division of the Quality Assurance (QA) Committee in
June 2015. The PD Division will continue the work of the PD Committee to be a vital component of the
overall Quality Assurance/Continuing Quality Improvement (QA/CQI) Program by provision of insight
into the learning needs of Manitoba pharmacists, development of learning programs to assist the College
in meeting its mandate and accreditation of learning activities.
Membership
Manjit Bains
Jenna Bolton
Shawn Bugden
Divna Calic
Cenzina Caligiuri
Laura Delavau
Fran Gira
Kathy Hunter
Samantha Kendall, CSHP-MB Liaison
Dennis Le
Lyndsay Lepp
Susan Lessard-Friesen, Deputy Registrar
Jugnu Lodha
Courtney Marion

Amy Marriott
Kim McIntosh, Assistant Registrar
Sheila Ng
Olasumbo Ojo
Kristine Petrasko, Chair
Dinah Santos, former Co-Chair
Megan Scott
Advit Shah
Trevor Shewfelt
Devyn Swark
Roger Tam
Graham Trott, Pharmacists Manitoba Liaison
Pat Trozzo
Tobi Tse

The PD Division is comprised of pharmacists from a wide variety of practice areas including community and
hospital pharmacy practice, administration and academia. We are fortunate to have many continuing
members as well as new graduate pharmacists and pharmacy student members, which results in a perspective
that is innovative, informed and reflects leading-edge pharmacy practice.
Dinah Santos, Vice President of the CPhM Council, stepped down as co-Chair of the PD Division after being
appointed as Chair of the new QA Committee. The PD Division thanks Dinah for her support, commitment,
and skilled leadership as co-Chair and is fortunate that Dinah will stay on as a member of the Division. The
Division is extremely pleased that long-time Committee/Division member and co-Chair, Kristine Petrasko,
will continue as an invaluable asset as Chair of the PD Division.
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Our sincere thanks and appreciation are extended to all members of the PD Division, including those that
resigned this past year, for their time and service to quality professional development programming in
Manitoba. The PD Division would also like to recognize the excellent support provided by the CPhM staff.
CPhM Professional Development Programs
In 2015, the Professional Development Committee provided 9 programs comprising a total of 40.75
accredited professional development hours (equivalent to 40.75 CEU). Most programs were open for
registration to both pharmacists and pharmacy technicians.
The PD Committee gratefully acknowledges the sponsors listed below who have provided educational
grants to support professional development programming for Manitoba pharmacists and pharmacy
technicians in 2015.
January 21, 2015

Critical Appraisal 101: Evidence for the Non-Researcher
CCCEP accredited for 2.00 CEU
Speaker(s): Sarah Jennings, B.Sc., B.Sc.Pharm., RPh, Pharm.D.
Supported by: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health

April 25, 2015

Administration of Injections Practical Skills Workshop
CCCEP Accredited for 6.50 CEU
Speaker(s): Theresa Bowser, RN, BN; and Casey L. Sayre, Pharm.D., APhA
Pharmacy-Based Immunization Delivery certified, Ph.D.
Supported by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba

April 29, 2015

The Medical/Psychiatric Interface: Case Presentations to Highlight Connections
and Approaches
CPhM accredited for 2.00 CEU
Speaker(s): Rick R. Thurmeier, B.Sc.Chem., B.Sc.Pharm.
Supported by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba

May 14, 2015

Osteoporosis: Understanding Treatment and Goals
CPhM accredited for 2.00 CEU
Speaker(s): Rani Chatterjee-Mehta, B.Sc.Pharm.; and Mathilda Prinsloo, B.Sc.Pharm.,
CGP, CDE
Supported by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba and Pfizer Consumer Healthcare

June 7, 2015

Principles for the Provision of Opioid Dependence Treatment by Manitoba
Pharmacists Certificate Program
Attending the workshop CPhM accredited for 7.00 CEU; reading the Principles for
the Provision of Opioid Dependence Treatment Guidelines CPhM accredited for
2.00 CEU; and watching Methadone – An Introduction to Clinical Practice DVD
CPhM accredited for 5.00 CEU
Speaker(s): Laurie Magee, RPN; Nicole Nakatsu, B.A. Kines., B.Sc.Pharm.; and Mike
Sloan, B.Sc.Pharm.
Supported by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba

October 5, 2015

Critical Appraisal 201: Evidence Appraisal for the Non-Researcher, Clinical
Practice Guidelines and Systematic Reviews
CCCEP accredited for 3.00 CEU
Speaker(s): Sarah Jennings, B.Sc., B.Sc.Pharm., RPh, Pharm.D.
Supported by: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health and College of
Pharmacists of Manitoba
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October 8, 2015

CPhM Legislation and Regulations Update, Review and Feedback
CPhM accredited for 2.00 CEU
Speaker(s): Ronald F. Guse, B.Sc.Pharm.; and Glenda Marsh, B.Sc.Pharm.
Supported by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba

October 20, 2015

Literacy and Health in Pharmacy
CPhM accredited for 2.00 CEU
Speaker(s): Rhonda Taylor
Supported by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba, Frontier College and Manitoba
Institute for Patient Safety

Online Program

Ordering Lab Tests for Manitoba Pharmacists including the Manitoba Module:
Ordering Laboratory Tests
CPhM accredited for 7.25 CEU
Developed by the University of Manitoba, College of Pharmacy in partnership with
the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba (Jamie Falk, B.Sc.Pharm., Pharm.D.; Grace
Frankel, B.Sc.Pharm., Pharm.D.; Christopher Louizos, B.Sc.Pharm., Pharm.D.; and
Kim McIntosh, B.Sc.Pharm.)

Once again in 2015, the College has provided funding to support programs developed by the PD Division
to address specific learning objectives in areas including legislation, patient safety, quality
assurance/continuous quality improvement and therapeutic areas that have been suggested by pharmacists
on program evaluations.
Live, interactive videoconferencing and webcasting has provided pharmacists in rural areas with many
more professional development opportunities. The PD Division of the QA Committee has provided
CPhM PD programs whenever possible via videoconference to 20 rural videoconference sites across the
province including Arborg, Ashern, Brandon, Churchill, Dauphin, Flin Flon, Gimli, Grandview,
Killarney, Neepawa, Notre Dame de Lourdes, Portage la Prairie, Roblin, Russell, Steinbach, St. Pierre,
Swan River, The Pas, Thompson and Morden/Winkler. As well, recordings of most programs are posted
on the sbrc.tv website and may be accessed by pharmacists at any time.
Videoconference Site Coordinators
We were very fortunate to have the following pharmacists agree to serve as our videoconference site
coordinators for 2015. To each of them, we extend our sincere thanks and appreciation for their time and
effort, which has allowed us to provide educational programs through videoconferencing to pharmacists
in rural Manitoba.
Kathy Adriaansen – Neepawa
Blaire Cairns - Grandview
Lise Durand – Notre Dame de Lourdes
Jason Falk - Carberry
Claire Gillis - Gimli
Joey Gwozdz – Steinbach
Brent Havelange – Russell
Melissa Jacobs - Gimli
Donica Janzen - Churchill
Chris Johnson – Killarney
Christine Klimuk - Swan River
Yvette & Colin Lafreniere – St. Pierre

Ken Marek – Portage la Prairie
Martin Michaels – Swan River
Whitney Mitchell - Roblin
Spencer Reavie – Russell
Derrick Sanderson - The Pas
Trevor Shewfelt - Dauphin
Jennifer Thackeray – Thompson
Doug Thidrickson - Ashern
Corey Thompson - Flin Flon
Dennis Walker – Portage la Prairie
Brian Whitby - Arborg
Jeff Wooster – Morden/Winkler
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2014 - 2015 Learning Portfolio Summary and Professional Development Log
At licence renewal, pharmacists are required to complete their online CPhM Professional Development
Log documenting they have met the professional development requirement for the year and listing the
accredited and non-accredited learning activities they have participated in during this period. Pharmacists
are required to participate in a minimum of 25 hours of learning activities between November 1st and
October 31st each year, of which a minimum of 15 hours (equivalent to 15 CEU) must be accredited
learning activities. The balance of 10 hours of learning activities may include non-accredited or
accredited learning activities. As stated in the Pharmaceutical Regulation, pharmacists are now required
to keep evidence (professional development learning activity statements/certificates and other supporting
documents) of completing the continuing professional development requirements for three years.
In 2015, pharmacists continued to significantly exceed the minimum PD requirement. Of note, is that
87% of pharmacists reported involvement in greater than 25 hours of learning activities during the 20142015 PD year.

Number of Pharmacists

Range of Professional Development Hours
Completed by Pharmacists
1000
900
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
25

>25 to 35

>35 to 50

>50

Professional Development Hours Completed

Pharmacists reported participating in both accredited and non-accredited learning activities in addressing
self-identified learning needs. Non-accredited learning comprised approximately a quarter of pharmacists’
professional development for the 2014-2015 PD year and for the past several years.

Proportion of Accredited and
Non-Accredited Professional
Development Hours Completed
25%
75%

Non-Accredited Hours

Accredited Hours
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Pharmacy Technician Professional Development
Starting in 2014, pharmacy technicians in Manitoba were also required to meet the professional
development requirement annually, confirmed at a minimum of once every two years by the pharmacy
manager or delegate at the pharmacy technician’s place of employment. Pharmacy technicians are
required to participate in and document a minimum of 15 hours of PD learning activities from June 1st to
May 31st of each year. Of the 15 hours, a minimum of 5 hours must be from accredited learning activities,
with a balance of 10 hours of participation in either accredited or non-accredited learning activities. The
College has provided a PD Log template on the website that pharmacy technicians may utilize to record
their learning activities.
Pharmacists Awarded Certificates of Achievement of Life Long Learning
The following pharmacists have been awarded a CPhM Certificate of Life Long Learning in Pharmacy in
recognition of their outstanding participation in professional development activities during the 2014-2015
PD Year. Recognition is provided each year to pharmacists who have participated in a minimum of 50
hours of professional development activities, of which a minimum of 30 hours involves participation in
accredited learning activities.
The CPhM congratulates the following pharmacists on their achievement:
Karam Abd El Nour
Mohsen Abdelsalam
Joyce Adegbite
Lindsay Alvero
Robert Ariano
Marian Attia
Srilatha Avadhanula
Mais Bahajaj
William Balacko
Allison Bell
B. Marie Berry
Anwar Bhojani
Joelle Boileau
Jacob Boschman
Kristjana Britton
Jennifer Buffie
Pierce Cairns
Carolyn Capell
Dayna Catrysse
William Cechvala
Bikramjeet Chahal
Lengim Chen Ingram
Arnold Chew
Stanley Chow
Phillip Chung
Janice Coates
Jeremy Cockerill
Cristina Concepcion
Louise Cooney
Jennifer Countess
Dale Crawford
Marcin Cychowski

Sheril Cyriac
Kavita Dave
Pola Demian
Pritpal Dhanjal
Betty Dong
Erica Dueck
Lothar Dueck
Rehana Durocher
Nicole Edwards
Karin Ens
Rowena Fernando
Evelyn Fletcher
Ross Forsyth
Robert Francis
Christin Franken
Mark Friesen
Stephanie Geith
Eriny Gendy
Jennifer Gibson
Rajinder Gill
M. Claire Gillis
Ronald Scott Groen
Ruby Grymonpre
Andrew Hanna
Jillian Hardy
Amanda Harrison
Ofelia Hermogeno
Warren Hicks
Lorraine Hilderman
Tara Hoop
Cody Hotel
Clinton Huber
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Curtis Hughes
Muhammad Islam
Jillian James
Joanne Johnson
Tarandeep Kaur
Kaley Kawchuk
Cheryl Kessler
Stephen Khoe
Ernest Kiz
Nancy Kleiman
Christine Klimuk
Meghann Klowak
Elmer Kuber
Britt Kural
Florence Kwok
Daniel Kyrzyk
Dennis Le
Judy Lee-Wing
Christine Leong
Wilfird Lessak
Amanda Li
Jugnu Lodha
Reynold Loewen
Melvin Love
Dora Ma
Janice Macalino
Janice Magnusson
Amarjeet Makkar
Tara Maltman-Just
Kristopher Marcinowski
Tara Jean Martin
Kimberly McIntosh

David McKay
Suzanne McKay
Anokhi Mehta-Sachdev
Todd Mereniuk
Stephen Moynihan
Sarah Myk
Arlene Nabong
Michael Namaka
Kenzie Nemez
Jason Nutbean
Tim Pattern
Glen Pauch
Caterina Pearson
Tricia Penner
Siegfried Pfahl
Mervin Pichlyk
Mathilda Prinsloo
Barret Procyshyn

Sonal Bachu Purohit
Ripudaman Singh Randhawa
Nancy Remillard
Iriny Rezk
Chad Ricard
Jamie Richardson
Derek Risbey
Janine Rivest
Jennifer Rogers
Devin Ross
Ligy Russel
Derrick Sanderson
Dinah Santos
Gerri Scott
Robert L.J. Sitarz
Sharon Smith
Dawn Sproll
Ernest Stefanson

Alice Studney
Meera Thadani
Tinu Thomas
Janice Naomi Tsuyuki
Lucy-Rose Vuong
Hilton (Hugh) Wallace
Ashley Walus
Kimberly Watkinson
Lori Wazny
Brian Whitby
Elizabeth Wilson
Gwen Wischnewski
Horst Wuerfel
Amanda Young
Amir Youssef
Osama Zaki
Lisa Zaretzky-Arnold

Resources
Over this past year, the PD Division of the QA Committee has continued to work to provide pharmacists
with access to a broad range of educational programs and resources both in-house and via the CPhM PD
webpage. A listing of the complete collection of resources housed in the College Library may be found on
the PD webpages of the CPhM website at www.cphm.ca. The PD pages have been updated to include
many new listings of accredited PD programs and resources. In addition, many of the CPhM PD
programs have either been recorded onto DVD or posted on the sbrc.tv website and are available to
pharmacists and pharmacy technicians free-of-charge. Titles and topics of these recorded programs are
listed on the PD pages of the website.
The Canadian Council on Continuing Education in Pharmacy (www.cccep.ca)
“Advancing pharmacy practice through quality continuing pharmacy education.”
The Canadian Council on Continuing Education in Pharmacy (CCCEP) is the national coordinating and
accrediting body for continuing pharmacy education in Canada. Its members are appointed by the
provincial pharmacy regulatory organizations. CCCEP members also include representatives from several
national pharmacy organizations such as the Canadian Association of Pharmacy Technicians (CAPT), the
Association of Faculties of Pharmacy of Canada (AFPC), the Canadian Society of Hospital Pharmacists
(CSHP), the Canadian Pharmacists Association (CPhA), and the Canadian Pharmacy Technicians
Educators Association (CPTEA). Assistant Registrar for Practice Quality, Kim McIntosh, is the Manitoba
Delegate on the CCCEP Board.
The following items were completed in the last year to support the objectives outlined in CCCEP 20122015 Strategic Plan: Building Excellence.
Program Excellence
 Accredited Provider policy and Application-Review form revised to align with Standards for
CCCEP Accreditation.
 Accreditation of accredited providers was renewed using a revised policy and application
framework.
 Provincial Accreditation Guidance document revised to reflect Standards for CCCEP
Accreditation. New tools and templates were added to help provincial accreditors apply the
standards.
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Practice Excellence
 Immunization and injections stage 2 accreditation pilot project successfully concluded.
Accreditation framework established formed the basis of the new Competency-Mapped policy.
 New Competency-Mapped policy created. Policy provides assurance that learning outcomes of
programs that received competency-mapped accreditation achieved required competencies in a
given subject area.
 Leadership provided in the exploration of advanced practice and specialization in pharmacy.
CCCEP is one of five national organizations forming the Specialization Task Group.
Organizational Excellence
 Quality improvement initiative began to improve major accreditation and administration
processes. Aim is to develop maps to review and improve processes and establish outcome and
process performance indicators for each major process. Process maps will be used to establish
desired state process maps and performance indicators.
Respectfully submitted,
Kristine Petrasko, Chair
Kim McIntosh, Assistant Registrar
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STANDARDS OF PRACTICE DIVISION OF THE QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE
(FORMERLY THE STANDARDS OF PRACTICE COMMITTEE)
REPORT TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
The role of the Standards of Practice Committee is to review, revise and/or develop minimum standards to
guide pharmacists in their pharmacy practice. The intent is to ensure that a satisfactory minimum practice
level is maintained throughout Manitoba. Methods of implementation include Practice directions,
Guidelines, and Policies through recommendations to Council.
The following is a report on the issues brought before the committee and their current status.
Practice directions
As in the past, the Committee focused primarily on the development of the Practice directions that support
the 2006 Pharmaceutical Act. In 2011, the work started with the development of a template that continues
to be used for all Practice directions. After approval of the template by Council, the Committee proceeded
with the development of Practice directions with initial focus on those that needed to be developed in their
entirety (versus those developed based on existing standards of practice).
Over the course of the year, the Committee participated in the development of 9 of the 39 identified Practice
directions. The Practice Direction writers have played a significant role in the Committee’s ability to
complete its review process in a timely fashion. As the Practice directions are developed by the contract
writers, vetted by the Standards of Practice Committee and reviewed by Council, they have been broadly
circulated for consultation with the members and stakeholder organizations as per CPhM Policy on Practice
directions. Final approval of the regulations has facilitated the process and a number of outstanding practice
directions are either in the drafting process or will be based on existing CPhM guideline/standards
documents. A total of 26 Practice directions have received final approval for use by Council.
Committee Members
The position of Standards of Practice Committee Chair was held by Councillor Brent Booker.
A special thank you is extended to the participating members of the Standards of Practice Committee for
their ongoing and tireless dedication. The upcoming year should be both challenging and rewarding as the
Committee continues its work to complete the Practice directions.
CPhM members interested in participating in this process or other areas of standards development are
encouraged to submit their name by contacting the College office. Teleconference meeting attendance is
available for members located in rural/remote areas. All participation is welcome.
Respectfully submitted
Brent Booker, Committee Chair
The Standards of Practice Committee would like to thank the following members for their
participation during this past year:
Brent Booker
Divna Calic
Sheri Dyck
Nicholas Honcharik
Melissa Gobin
Sheldon Kokorudz
Jane Lamont
Jugnu Lodha
Scott McFeetors
Nicole Nakatsu
Geoffrey Namaka
Amy Oliver
Tiffany Pankratz
Gayle Romanetz
Kurt Schroeder
Marilyn Sidhu
Pat Trozzo
Ashley Walus
Todd Mereniuk (CPhM Staff)
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FINANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
REPORT TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
The Finance and Risk Management Committee provides the following for information of the
College’s members:
The Finance & Risk Management Committee met four times during the 2015 fiscal year: March 2, May
11, September 9, and December 14, 2015.
Early in 2015, the Committee met with representatives from RBC Investments and reviewed the
College’s investment policy statements.
In 2016, the Committee will conduct a review of the risk associated with members approving regulations
under the current legislation and the Regulated Health Professions Act (RHPA). The RHPA might also be
compared with the current legislation for any changes in the type of regulations that can be made
thereunder.
The following recommendations were provided to Council during 2015:
Liability Insurance Review: The Finance & Risk Management Committee recommended Council approve
for distribution a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the review and assessment of the insurance and liability
coverage for the College. Council approved the RFP and proposals were received. Council approved one
proponent to complete the assessment and that work has been completed. The final report was provided to
the Finance & Risk Management Committee, reviewed by the Committee and minor adjustments are
being made to the College’s liability coverage.
Rolling Budget: The Finance & Risk Management Committee recommended the College begin
developing a three-year rolling budget to help forecast the longer term financial needs of the College and
is to be in cooperation with the College’s Strategic Plan. Council supported the concept and the Registrar
and Executive Treasurer are working to implement the rolling-budget process in 2016.
As chair, I would like to thank the committee members for their support, hard work, and commitment to
the committee’s goals. I would also like to thank the Registrar for his guidance and continued
participation.
Respectfully submitted,
Jennifer Ludwig, Executive Treasurer
Chair, Finance and Risk Management Committee
Committee Members
Carol Davis
William Eamer
Travis Giavedoni
Sheldon Kokorudz
Geoff Namaka
Penny Shefrin
Ronald Guse
Susan Lessard-Friesen
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BOARD OF EXAMINERS REPORT
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
The Board of Examiners met four times over the past year. The majority of the agenda involves the
review and approval of applicants for registration and licensure in Manitoba. During 2015, there were
seventy-nine (79) international pharmacy graduates who registered as applicants with the College,
compared to forty (40) in 2014, sixty-seven (67) in 2013 and seventy-eight (78) in 2012. Fifty (50)
applicants completed all licensing requirements and became practicing pharmacists in Manitoba,
compared to fifty-two (52) in 2014.
During 2015, twenty-seven (27) letters of standing were requested from international pharmacy graduates
that were licensed without working in Manitoba as a practicing pharmacist. Twenty-six (26) of these
letters were sent to the Ontario College of Pharmacists.
The commitment of the Board and College is to process the applications in a timely, but thorough
manner. The Board recognizes and appreciates the professional responsibility and commitment of the
many Manitoba pharmacists who have offered their time, knowledge and experience to serve as
preceptors.
During the course of the year, the Board made the following determinations:




THAT the College allow all new applicants and new Manitoba graduates to submit their criminal
record checks, child and adult abuse registry checks within 6 months prior to starting their
internship rather than the current 3 month expiry. As well, the Board will allow criminal record
checks to be submitted from another source (third party), as long as the source is credible and a
copy is received directly from the third party.
THAT the Board grant one Extended Practice Pharmacist (for a total of seven) designation with
the conditions that they send a follow-up letter in 6 months and one year from the date of
receiving their designation with feedback of their practice as well as feedback from their sites.

I would like to thank the members of the Board of Examiners for their time, commitment and
thoroughness in performing their duties. The Board recognizes the hard work of the Administrative
Assistant Bev Robinson and outgoing Registrar Ronald Guse and is most appreciative of their support
throughout the year.
Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Board,
Neal Davies, Chair
Members of the Board of Examiners:
Bobby Currie
Patrick Fitch
Glenda Marsh
Rik Panciera
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AWARDS & NOMINATING COMMITTEE
REPORT TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
The Awards & Nominating Committee makes the following recommendations to Council for the
2016 Awards:
Bowl of Hygeia
Scott Davidson
The Bowl of Hygeia award was established in 1958 to recognize outstanding community service by
pharmacists.
Criteria considered with the nomination includes:
• Elected public office or community boards
• Community professional outreach
• Service club participation
• Sport and / or cultural club participation
• Business club activity
2015 Pharmacist of the Year
Penny Shefrin
This award is given annually to a Manitoba Pharmacist who, in the opinion of his/her peers, has made a
significant contribution to the profession during his/her career.
Criteria considered with the nomination includes:
• Elected office in provincial and / or national pharmacy organizations
• Committee involvement with provincial / national pharmacy organizations
• Practice Achievements
• Mentorship, high practice standards and innovation
Bonnie Schultz Memorial Award for Pharmacy Practice Excellence
Kristine Petrasko
This award is given annually to a Manitoba Pharmacist who demonstrates outstanding excellence in
optimizing patient care.
Criteria considered with the nomination includes:
• Service as a role model
• Excellence in communication skills
• Compassion, empathy and concern in providing care to patients
• Demonstration of skilled practice
Patient Safety Award
Barbara Sproll
The Patient Safety Award recognizes a Manitoba Pharmacist(s) that has made a significant and lasting
contribution to improving patient safety and healthcare quality through a specific initiative or project.
Criteria considered with the nomination includes:
 The pharmacist(s) involved are members of the College
 The project or program has demonstrated a positive impact on patient safety and involves some
component of the practice of pharmacy
 Innovative and patient-centred care projects are given preference.
 The project or program could be preventative in nature, or may have occurred as a result of an
adverse event or “near-miss”.
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Centennial Award
There were no nominations submitted for this award.
The Centennial Award is presented to a pharmacist or pharmacists for a particular project that has had a
positive impact on pharmacy.
Honorary Member
There were no nominations submitted for this award.
An Honorary Membership is given to worthy individuals, who are not registered pharmacists in
Manitoba, but have provided valuable and notable service to the profession of pharmacy.
Honorary Life Membership
W. Gary Cavanagh
Ronald F. Guse
This award is open to pharmacists who have made a significant contribution to pharmacy in Manitoba
and at the national level.
The awards for the Bowl of Hygeia, the Pharmacist of the Year, the Bonnie Schultz Memorial Award for
Pharmacy Practice Excellence, and the Patient Safety Award will be presented at the Annual Awards Gala
on Saturday, April 9, 2016, at the Delta Hotel.
The Honorary Life Member Awards will be presented at the College’s Annual Awards Luncheon on
Sunday, April 10, 2016, at the RBC Convention Centre.

The following members will receive 50 Year Gold Pins and Certificates:
Elliot Fingerote
Patricia Ludwig
Linda Boyd
Kenneth Brown
Marian Kremers
The following members will receive their 25 Year Silver Pins and Certificates:
Edward Bezpalko
Sandor Huszar
Robert L.J. Sitarz
Shawn Bugden
Daren Jorgenson
Judy Steen
Julie Choy
Wendell Kolsun
Kristjan Thorkelson
Joan Cummings
Judy Lee-Wing
Shirley Treacy
Warren Derendorf
Cheryl Martin
Pasquale Trozzo
Gayle Erlendson
Michael Namaka
Lavern Vercaigne
Ronda Eros
Nhut Nguyen
Charlotte Warner
Della Fidler
Kimberley Ortwein
Donna Woloschuk
D. Patrick Fitch
Marie-Claude Paradis
Jasmine Wong
Raymond Gasmen
Caterina Pearson
Sheryl Zelenitsky
Myrna Hamer
Gerald Scheffler
Janice Hink
Chris Schellenberg
The 25-year and the 50-year pin and certificate recipients will be honoured at the Annual Awards
Luncheon scheduled for Sunday, April 10, 2016, at the RBC Convention Centre.

In 2015, the following recipients were honoured by receiving a College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Award:
College of Pharmacists of Manitoba Gold Medal:
Class of 2015
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Riley Love

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba Silver Medal:
Class of 2015

Alysha Dudych

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba Flexon Silver Medal:

Lyndon Walker

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba Silver Medal:
in 3rd Year Pharmacy

Emily Wiebe

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba President’s Prize:
nd

Amanda Mazinke

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba Scholarship (2 Year)

Erika Hartel

Stewart G. Wilcox Award

Joseph Gille

Dr. J. R. Murray Scholarship

Riley Love

William G. Eamer / College of Pharmacists of Manitoba
Graduate Scholarship

Miral Fumakia

William G. Eamer / College of Pharmacists of Manitoba – Undergraduate Awards
3rd year:

Alexis Klanner

2nd year:

Katlyn Taylor

st

1 year:

Lane Sokolowski

Entering:

Karyn Wiebe

The student awards have been previously presented to each recipient by the College of Pharmacy, Faculty
of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba. The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba will publish the
names of the award recipients in the program for the Awards Luncheon.
Awards & Nominating Committee Members
Kyle MacNair, Committee Chair
Neal Davies, Dean, College of Pharmacy
Grant Lawson
Leann McCannel
Scott McFeetors
Patrick Fitch, CSHP Liaison
Susan Lessard-Friesen, staff resource
Respectfully submitted,
Kyle MacNair, Committee Chair
Susan Lessard-Friesen, Registrar
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GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
REPORT TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APRIL 9, 2016
The Governance Committee is a standing committee of Council with the mandate to provide initial and
ongoing review and to make recommendations to Council about the governance structure of the College
of Pharmacists of Manitoba.
Committee members:
Shawn Bugden, Chair
Gary Cavanagh
Kyle MacNair
Bill Regehr
Derrick Sanderson
The responsibilities of the committee are to:
 Review current governance recommendations;
 Complete an environmental scan of types of governance structures used by other regulatory
bodies;
 Review governance structures of the College in line with requirements of the Pharmaceutical Act
(Act) and the Regulated Health Professions Act, and all other Acts under which the College must
operate;
 Conduct a thorough assessment of the governance-related needs of the College and Council and
develop the required committee structure to support the role of Council;
 Develop the next steps in the implementation of organizational changes;
 Recommend to Council terms of reference for any new governance-related committees,
including, as needs change, updated terms of reference for these committees;
 Provide ongoing review and monitoring of the effectiveness of governance structures of the
organization; and,
 Review the performance of Councillors and certain committees.
Most notable committee activities in 2015 include:
 Regular review and monitoring of Council Meeting Self-Assessments provided by Councillors
with recommendations to Council when required;
 Review of Council’s composition in line with the requirements of the Act;
 Continued review of the Council election process;
 Review of electronic voting systems to determine suitability for use by the College and
development of recommendations on By-Law amendments necessary for implementation of an
electronic voting system ; and,
 Policy development for the College. The committee has developed a Council Member Code of
Conduct Policy which was approved by Council and is currently developing a Council Member
Conflict of Interest Policy, Policy on Delegation of Authority to the Registrar and a Policy on
Performance Evaluation of the Registrar.
Respectfully submitted,
Shawn Bugden, Chair
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NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PHARMACY REGULATORY AUTHORITIES (NAPRA)
REPORT TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
SATURDAY, APRIL 9, 2016
The Board of National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA) meets twice a year in
person, and may have teleconference meetings as the need arises throughout the year. The Council of the
College of Pharmacists customarily appoints the President or Past President as the NAPRA Board
member from Manitoba. The NAPRA Board member and Registrar both attend NAPRA Board meetings.
This report contains the recent activities of NAPRA and further information is available through the
NAPRA website.
President Glenda Marsh replaced Past President Kyle MacNair as the College delegate to NAPRA at the
annual meeting on Sunday, April 26, 2015. In addition, the NAPRA Chair specifically thanked Manitoba
representative Kyle MacNair for his participation and leadership skills at the Board meetings, and for his
work on various standing and ad hoc committees of the Board over the years.
NAPRA Executive Committee
Craig Connolly (Nova Scotia) was appointed President, Anjili Acharya (Alberta) was appointed Vice
President and Linda Hensman (Newfoundland & Labrador) was appointed Director to the Executive
Committee.
National Drug Schedules (NDS) Program Review
The NAPRA Board previously gave direction for the second phase of review of the program. Although
activities on this particular topic were scheduled to resume in previous years, it has not been possible due
to competing priorities that demanded more time than expected. At the last prioritization exercise, this
undertaking was given a lower priority by the Board. However, with the recent government consultation
on a proposed framework for consumer health products (non-prescription), the level of priority for the
review is being re-questioned. Furthermore, Health Canada has, over the past year, implemented a series
of new practices in the management of the Prescription Drugs List that affect the NDS. These two issues,
coupled with issues raised by a few pharmacy regulatory authorities regarding the NDS, may trigger a
new discussion on the level of priority for this project.
Pharmacists Gateway Canada for international pharmacy graduates
Pharmacists’ Gateway Canada was officially launched and started its activities as a core program at the
beginning of November 2014 with the conclusion of the Gateway project. As of December 31, 2015,
there were a total of 3,289 enrollments in the Gateway. As the Gateway provides a means to follow the
progress of these candidates through the path to licensure, it was noted that 569 candidates have
progressed to the point of engaging with a designated provincial pharmacy regulatory authority (PRA).
Self-assessment tools were utilized a total of 137 times. In general, the Gateway operations are going
smoothly and the Gateway operations team is working on upgrades and enhancements to the Gateway
system and the self-assessment tools.
Canadian Council for Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs (CCAPP)
In 2014, there were two full accreditation visits of Canadian universities: the Universities of Waterloo and
Laval. In addition, interim reports from Dalhousie, Manitoba, Alberta and Saskatchewan were considered
by the Board in June. All four programs successfully addressed issues raised during their earlier
accreditation visits. There were also three (3) international visits: a follow-up visit to King Saud
University, as well as a visit to each of Beirut Arab University and King Abdulaziz University. NAPRA
Board expressed strong concern that CCAPP is “approving” international programs, notwithstanding that
CCAPP uses different terms for the successful assessment of the international programs. This concern
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will be included as part of the strategic planning session for CCAPP. As a result of the discussion, the
Board passed a motion that NAPRA does not recognize any designations provided by CCAPP to
international pharmacy education programs, as these may impact the role of PRAs in fulfilling their
responsibility in determining equivalence. In addition, NAPRA will write a letter signed by the President
that CCAPP refrain from awarding a certificate or accreditation to a non-Canadian Pharmacy Education
program that is the same as the accreditation is awarded to a Canadian program or any such similar
representation as such. The NAPRA representative to the CCAPP Board was changed from Ontario’s
Registrar, Marshall Moleschi, to New Brunswick’s Registrar, Sam Lanctin.
National Committee on Regulated Pharmacy Technicians (NCRPT)
The NAPRA Board approved:
1. that CCAPP give consideration to providing full documentation to the PRA observer for site
visits of pharmacy technician programs.
2. that PRAs receive a copy of the accreditation decision letters sent by CCAPP to the pharmacy
technician programs.
3. that CCAPP look at the entire CCAPP accredited program curriculum, engaging wide stakeholder
input, with specific consideration of adding content related to:
 Practice management
 Root cause analysis
 Quality assurance / risk management
 Professionalism, ethics, and legislation
to align with the latest version of NAPRA’s Professional Competencies for Canadian Pharmacy
Technicians at Entry to Practice.
4. that NAPRA support and encourage CCAPP to review pharmacy technician programs in light of
the current pharmacy technician standards of practice and competencies at entry-to-practice and
ensure that accreditation standards are sufficiently high, clearly delineated and evaluated
accordingly.
5. that the committee name officially be changed to National Committee on Pharmacy Technicians.
National Advisory Committee on Pharmacy Practice (NACPP)
A review of the website was done and the Board approved the following documents to be removed (the
first two will be repealed and the third is to be retained, but not posted):
1. Pharmacy Jurisprudence Competencies for Licensure as a Pharmacist in Canada (no longer
needed)
2. National Model Continuing Competence Program (no longer of use, as individual PRAs have
their own individual programs in place)
3. Framework for Recognizing Pharmacy Specialists in Canada (outdated)
Model Standards for Pharmacy Compounding of Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Sterile
Preparations
The Model Standards for Pharmacy Compounding of Non-Hazardous Sterile Preparations (“Model
Standards”) were approved by the NAPRA Board and are posted on the NAPRA website. Current
pharmacy practice for the preparation of sterile products in Canada includes many of the patient safety
and quality assurance requirements of these new standards. However, these standards will require an
enhanced level of an onsite quality assurance program, oversight, establishing expiry dates, recall
procedure, etc.
The implementation of the Model Standards in Canada is the under the authority of the respective
provincial, territory or DND pharmacy regulatory bodies (“Colleges”). Over the next few months, each
College will begin its respective process for the implementation of these standards in its jurisdiction that
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will result in a requirement for compliance and national harmonization. It is anticipated that compliance
with most of the enhanced levels of practice described in the Model Standards will be immediate upon
approval by the respective College, with a short phased-in process for certain sections and a longer
process where physical and structural change to the practice sites are required.
Regarding the Model Standards for Pharmacy Compounding of Hazardous (Chemotherapy) Sterile
Preparations, those are expected to be released and posted at the NAPRA website in the first quarter of
2016, which will be timed with the release of the USP 800 standards.
In addition, the Board decided:
 comments from NAPRA be submitted to USP regarding the proposed changes to USP 797 based
on the input generated by the ad hoc Committee on Pharmacy Compounding;
 the National Advisory Committee on Pharmacy Practice (NACPP) be the committee involved in
the development and review of the Model Standards of Pharmacy Compounding for Non-sterile
Preparations;
 the ad hoc Committee on Pharmacy Compounding be disbanded after the completion of the
release of the Model Standards for Pharmacy Compounding of Non-hazardous and Hazardous
Sterile Preparations; and,
 the Board of Directors supports the staggered release date for the Model Standards for Pharmacy
Compounding of Non-hazardous Preparations and the Model Standards for Pharmacy
Compounding of Hazardous Sterile Preparations (February 2016, following the publication of
USP 800).
Model Standards for Pharmacy Compounding of Non-Sterile Preparations
NAPRA will begin work on the consultation and creation of the Model Standards for Pharmacy
Compounding of Non-Sterile Preparations in early 2016, culminating with a draft document to be
presented to the NAPRA Board for consideration of approval in November 2016.
Pharmacy Practice Management Systems (PPMS): Supplemental Requirements
In 2014, NAPRA approved the circulation of the PPMS Supplemental Requirements on Traceability and
Bulk Preparations Labelling for a 45-day national external consultation. The consultation was undertaken
over the summer. A letter was sent by NAPRA’s President to a wide range of stakeholders (46
organizations) on July 24, 2015, for close to a 60-day consultation period. Comments were received from
11 organizations. The review of the comments will continue in the next few months with the assistance of
the working group members and the consultant who wrote the document. It is anticipated that the views of
Council of Pharmacy Registrars of Canada will be sought on a few issues. An amended draft PPMS
supplemental document will be ready for the Board’s review at the next meeting. A recommendation for a
revised date of implementation will also be provided.
Model Standards for Practice for Pharmacists
NAPRA will begin work on the reviewing, consulting and updating of the Model Standards for Practice
for Pharmacists in June 2016, culminating with a draft document to be presented to the NAPRA Board for
consideration of approval in November 2017.
NAPRA Strategic Plan
NAPRA’s most recent strategic plan was developed and approved in 2011 for a period of three years
(2012-2015). As in previous years, the exercise to renew the strategic plan began in the year prior to the
projected end date of the current plan. Due to other competing priorities at NAPRA, the Board decided in
2014 to conduct a mini strategic planning session in 2015 to update NAPRA’s current strategic plan and
defer the comprehensive exercise to another year. The Board also agreed that the shorter exercise would
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not include a full environmental scan, interviews with external stakeholders or a governance discussion.
The Board approved the report from the mini strategic planning session.
NAPRA Fees
The NAPRA Board approved a 2.5% increase to the 2016 fees for each (provincial) member. The
application fees for the Gateway enrolment and self-assessment will not be increased for 2016.
Naloxone access
The following statement was approved by the Board:
NAPRA supports greater access to naloxone to help treat opioid overdose. NAPRA is supportive
of an immediate and timely review of the legislation in anticipation of Health Canada removing
naloxone from the Prescription Drug List. In addition, NAPRA would review the role of the
pharmacist in light of these potential changes.
NAPRA encourages Health Canada to support manufacturers to bring formulations that are
more conducive to self-administration to Canada, as seen in other countries.
Physician Assisted Dying
The Council of Pharmacy Registrars of Canada (CPRC) will develop overarching statements regarding
Physician Assisted Dying to include the concepts of patient-centric care, conscientious objections and the
role of the pharmacist (and pharmacy technicians). The work would be vetted through the NAPRA Board.
NAPRA Audit Committee
Glenda Marsh was appointed to the NAPRA Audit Committee.
Pharmacy Technicians under Mobility Agreement
The Board approved that pharmacy technician mobility be included when the NAPRA-facilitated
Mobility Agreement is reviewed.
NAPRA appointee to .Pharmacy Executive Board and Regulator Advisory Committee
The Board appointed British Columbia Registrar Bob Nakagawa to these two National Association Board
of Pharmacy Board/Committee, replacing Ronald Guse.
Respectfully Submitted,
Glenda Marsh, NAPRA Board Member
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REPORT OF THE REPRESENTATIVE TO THE
PHARMACY EXAMINING BOARD OF CANADA
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
OF THE COLLEGE OF PHARMACISTS OF MANITOBA
APRIL 9, 2016
Established in 1963 by a Special Act of Parliament, the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) is
the national certification body for the pharmacy profession in Canada. As a non-profit organization,
PEBC has been assessing the qualifications and competence of candidates for licensing by pharmacy
provincial regulatory authorities for over 50 years. I have included some relevant highlights of the past
year below:









As the appointee of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba in 2015, I maintained an active role in the
board activity of PEBC serving as Past-President, an Executive Committee Member and Chair of the
Finance Committee, Chair of the Nominating Committee and a member of the Practice Analysis Task
Force and Committee on Exams.
An orientation to the PEBC exam was provided to the 4th year pharmacy students at the University of
Manitoba.
There has been a sustained high demand for the Pharmacist Qualifying Examination – Part II (OSCE)
which has made it difficult for PEBC to accommodate the needs of all candidates. To assist with
planning, the PEBC board of directors has approved a cap of 3,000 spots for 2016. Under this cap, all
graduates from Canadian schools can be accommodated with over 2,000 spots available for
international pharmacy graduates.
There are over 6,900 pharmacy technicians registered with PEBC. The Evaluating Examination and
Part I and Part II (OSPE) of the Qualifying Examination for pharmacy technicians have now all been
offered in Manitoba. Depending on demand, it is anticipated that the Part II (OSPE) of the Qualifying
Examination for technicians will be offered at least annually in Manitoba.
A Practice Analysis Study was completed in 2015. Thank you to the pharmacists and pharmacy
technicians that participated in the on-line survey that supported this analysis. This work will allow
the creation of an exam blueprint that incorporates the 2014 Professional Competencies for Canadian
Pharmacists at Entry to Practice and Professional Competencies for Canadian Pharmacy Technicians
at Entry to Practice developed by the National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities
(NAPRA). These new blueprints will be used for the PEBC exam beginning in 2016.

The development and delivery of a national examination for pharmacist and pharmacy technicians is a
major undertaking. PEBC is nationally and internationally recognised for excellence in the job it does.
This excellence is achieved through the active partnership between PEBC and the profession. On behalf
of PEBC, I want to thank the dedicated pharmacists and pharmacy technicians who participate in the
PEBC process. Your efforts make this excellence possible.
Thank you for the honour of serving as the PEBC board member for Manitoba. This will be my final
report as the Manitoba representative. After the PEBC annual board meeting on February 27th, 2016,
Dinah Santos assumed the role of the representative of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba on the
PEBC board.
PEBC – “Providing Excellence in Certification for the Pharmacy Profession”
Respectfully submitted,
Shawn Bugden
Past-President, The Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada
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COLLEGE OF PHARMACY REPORT
TO THE COLLEGE OF PHARMACISTS OF MANITOBA
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
2015-2016
1. Dean’s Message
As I contemplate the Dean’s message for the 2016 Annual Report to the College of Pharmacists of
Manitoba (CPhM), I can’t help but think of the professional road we have travelled together these past
five years, and the remarkable advances that you have undertaken to smooth out the bumps and potholes
and make change happen.
In the deep dark winter, it is all the pharmacists that I have met and the stories that you have shared with
me on the tour of the profession of all the licenced pharmacies in Manitoba that have kept me going
towards spring. I have now visited (http://umanitoba.ca/faculties/pharmacy/pharm_locations.html) almost
all of Manitoba’s 408 pharmacies. It is the reason that I am even more optimistic about the year ahead
than I’ve ever been previously.
Faculty, staff, students, and alumni have enjoyed various social activities this past year, and we celebrated
the achievements of our fourth College of Pharmacy Outstanding Alumni Award presented to Dr. Jake
Thiessen (Class of 1965). We have also hosted 25- and 50-year class reunions with our alumni. In the fall
of 2015, 51 new pharmacy students were welcomed to the College of Pharmacy. Pharmacy students have
also performed better than they have ever performed on the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada
(PEBC) examinations in 2015 and at Professional Development Week (PDW) 2016 in Niagara we did
exceptionally well in the compounding competition. The Rx Preceptor, an online experiential program
management software, has made the paperwork experience of preceptorship students much less
cumbersome. We have incorporated additional aspects of physical examinations and were actively
involved in a new Patient Safety and Quality initiatives over the past annum. 2015 was notable as Dr.
Chris Louizos finished his PharmD degree and was promoted to Senior Instructor. Dr. Emmanuel Ho was
awarded tenure, and the AFPC New Investigator Award and Dr. Shawn Bugden became CPhM
Pharmacist of the Year. Teaching awards to Drs. Vercaigne, Zelenitsky, Lakowski and Kleiman were well
earned. The Leslie F. Buggey Professorship was awarded to Dr. Hope Anderson for 2015/2016. Drs.
Namaka and Bugden enjoyed successful research study leaves, while Drs. Grymonpre and Zelenitsky are
now in the midst of their sabbaticals. Dr. Keith Simons retired after an illustrious career and over 40 years
of service to Pharmacy. These are just a random concatenation of some of the highlights I can think of off
the top of my head.
We have represented the profession locally, nationally, and internationally, and continue to lead in
pharmacy scholarship, clinical practice and health policy. We were pleased to welcome Dr. Dana
Turcotte, Ph.D., a pharmacist and alumni from the University of Manitoba, to lead us in our Interprofessional Education activities starting in September 2015. As we continue to evolve, we built
additional student study spaces and renovated laboratories, and we have several more potential additional
capital projects and initiatives in the pipeline. However, again, the University of Manitoba and our
program are in the midst of further budget cuts and we must prioritize and tighten our belts and make
some tough decisions accordingly. Luckily, we are built on a very strong foundation of outstanding
educators, researchers and clinicians, and we will eventually move forward towards our goals.
Professional and academic change only happens when there is active participation. We don’t have to
agree on everything, but it all starts with getting involved in the work of public engagement. We have
begun leading Pharmacy in greater outreach initiatives in the community with our Flu Clinics on the
University of Manitoba and University of Winnipeg campuses, as well as community blood pressure
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clinics and the first prescribing for Ambulatory Ailments Laboratory. In addition, organization and
participation of our faculty members in the “Meds Conference” was notable over the past year. These
inter-professional opportunities to foster collaboration and promote patient-centred care are pathways to
an outstanding educational training experience.
In the Pharmacy profession, we believe that we create the kind of change we seek. However slow,
however harshly challenged at each advancement, we know that united together, Pharmacy can do it.
Since I took my Deanship five years ago, we have made remarkable progress together. In the year ahead,
I want us to focus on the bigger picture affairs which will guarantee an even stronger, more prosperous
Pharmacy profession for our future practitioners. We make choices together that move our profession
forward. We have anticipated and responded to the opportunities and challenges ahead with a proposal for
our own PharmD program which we hope to be uniquely Manitoban and second to none in Canada. This
proposal is an important opportunity which could further advance the profession. Jan Coates (another
Pharmacy award winner) has done a remarkable job coordinating these developmental efforts.
What makes Pharmacy great has always been our capacity to change for the better. Our ability to come
together as one profession and keep perfecting our vocation. In the day-to-day hustle and bustle of our
daily Pharmacy lives, it’s hard to see sometimes, but that’s who and what we are, and what we are
capable of. I would like to thank everyone again for their professional commitment which facilitates our
shared success and advances us forward.

2. Outstanding Teacher Awards 2014-2015
1st Year Ms. Nancy Kleiman
2nd Year Dr. Ted Lakowski
3rd Year Dr. Sheryl Zelenitsky
4th Year Dr. Lavern Vercaigne

3. Research
Faculty members of the College of Pharmacy have obtained funding from both national and international
granting agencies and organizations in the last year, including CIHR, NSERC, Public Health Association
of Canada, Prostate Cancer Canada, Research Manitoba, Manitoba Health and Healthy Living, University
of Manitoba, and the pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industry. Total funding received between July,
2014 and June, 2015, exceeded $2 million dollars. Some major highlights of the funding received are a
CIHR Operating Grant to Dr. Emmanuel Ho, and two NSERC Discovery Grants to Drs. Emmanuel Ho
and Ted Lakowski, respectively.
Once again, faculty members within the College have maintained consistent productivity in terms of
research publications. We have published 63 peer-reviewed research articles, and book or book chapters
over the past year. We have also published and/or presented 97 conference abstracts, and/or invited
presentations at both national and international conferences.
Faculty members in the College have also been recognized for their leadership and productivity at various
national conferences, including an AFPC New Investigator Research Award to Dr. Emmanuel Ho and the
CSPS Award of Leadership in Canadian Pharmaceutical Sciences to Dean Neal Davies.
Dr. Keith Simons was awarded the prestigious title of Professor Emeritus for his sustained academic
excellence over his stellar career and an Honorary Life Membership to the College of Pharmacists of
Manitoba and AFPC in recognition for his outstanding contributions to the profession of Pharmacy.
The College has hosted an undergraduate summer research program for years, and this year, there were 18
undergraduate students working in various research laboratories in our Pharmacy building. They include
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students from our Pharmacy program, as well as other units at the University of Manitoba and
international students from Brazil with the Science Without Borders program.
In graduate studies, Kevin Hamilton, Siyan Wang, Zhanni Weber, Tina Khorshid Ahmad and Refaat
Omar were awarded the M.Sc. degree, and Casey Sayre was awarded the Ph.D. degree in Pharmacy in
2015 – 2016.
4. Undergraduate Admissions
In September 2015, we welcomed 51 new students into the College of Pharmacy. This is slightly lower
than the previous year. The statistics for the 51 students in the 2015 B.Sc.(Pharm.) admission cohort
compared with the 2014 cohort are provided below.
We plan to admit up to 55 students in 2016/17.
Applications for admission to the B.Sc.(Pharm) decreased from 300 to 229. The five-year average is 291.
The number of applications to our program was lower than the previous five years. The average entry
level GPA for the regular pool was 3.94, slightly lower than the five-year average of 4.05. In 2015, 94%
of successful applicants were graduates from high schools in Manitoba. 59% of the current admission
cohort is female and 41% is male. There are currently 11 self-declared Aboriginal students (5.3%)
enrolled in the College of Pharmacy.
In the 2015/16 first year class, out of 51 students:
 10 students had 1 year of university level studies completed
 14 students had 2 years of university level studies completed
 22 students had 3 or more years of university level studies completed
 5 students had completed one or more degrees prior to be admitted to the College
The age of a first-year College of Pharmacy student ranges from 19 to 28, with the average age being 21.
Number of Undergraduate Students
Enrolment
2013/14
Year 1
54
Year 2
58
Year 3
49
Year 4
50
Total
211

2014/15
56
53
53
48
210

2015/16
53
53
52
49
207

5. 2015 PEBC Results and Student Success
The University of Manitoba’s College of Pharmacy Class of 2015 was ranked first in Canada (in terms of
overall pass rate and score) in the 2015 Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) Qualifying
Examination. We ranked first overall in the score of the Multiple Choice Portion of the Examination and
first overall in the score and pass rate of the OSCE.
While Manitoba offers one of the smaller Pharmacy programs in Canada (ranked 9 of 10 in terms of
student numbers), our performance in the national qualifying examination has typically been excellent,
with graduates achieving a number one ranking on the exam six times in the last 10 years.
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6. Philanthropy
We are fortunate to have such dedicated alumni and donors who choose to support our Pharmacy
program. This support enables us to attract the most talented staff and students, to stimulate a world class
pharmacy program and continue pharmacy scholarship in exceptional facilities.
During 2015, we were very grateful to receive 114 gifts to the College of Pharmacy from 105 donors for a
total of $331,224.83.
In 2015, we saw the creation of the Marty Sexton Memorial Scholarship and the Ronald F. Guse
Scholarship, as well as the Class of 2004 and Class of 2014 Scholarships, the Ron Connors Memorial
Bursary and the Samuel and Beatrice Faiman Pharmacy Graduate Fellowship and The Morris D. Faiman
Grand Rounds Seminar Series Lecture which provides an amount necessary to bring in and host a top
caliber speaker.
The members of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba, have continued to support the College of
Pharmacy with total contributions since 1983 at almost $2.75 million. Thank you to all the members of
our profession for their collective efforts to continue advancing the education of outstanding pharmacists
for the citizens of Manitoba.
7. Report on Funding Received from the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba, 2015
The College of Pharmacy has a mission to create an educational environment that facilitates the
integration of pharmacy scholarship in the areas of practice, research and service to effect optimal health
outcomes for individuals and communities, and the advancement of the profession of pharmacy. We are
pleased to be joined in this mission by the pharmacists of Manitoba who contribute to the delivery of the
professional program in many ways, including a financial contribution as part of the annual licencing
process. The funds collected by the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba (CPhM) on behalf of the
University of Manitoba, College of Pharmacy from the levy on all pharmacists for practicing licenses in
2015 were $146,100. The funds were allocated to the following initiatives in support of the professional
program.












Performance-Based Assessment Program Support of the Standardized Patient program in the
Pharmacy Skills Lab Stream (PHRM 1110, 2100 and 3110). This includes the SP training, case
planning and development – $11,869
Laboratory equipment purchases, upgrades, and complete purchase and restocking of all outdated
products used in the facilitation of the Skills Lab Stream – $30,300
Physical assessment training and Community Outreach (Blood pressure equipment, purchase and
training of EKG, and support of Student run Blood Pressure clinics) – $15,632
Support for Clinical professional practice Summer Students – $24,000
Creation of innovative online Modules for undergraduate students and Practicing Manitoba
Pharmacists – $10,000
Remodel of “Model Dispensary” and Pharmaceutical Care Lab including a functional gate/door.
An update of computer hardware/software to Kroll for 17 individual terminals – $21,607
Professional Development week support for Pharmacy Students including additional support for
the 2017 PDW hosted in Manitoba – $26,300
Structured Practical Experiential Program (SPEP) and Skills Labs Stream computer
hardware/software maintenance and improvements – $4,500
Faculty Professional Development for the advancement of Clinical Practice (i.e. conferences and
training) – $9,400
Admission Essay Training facilitation – $ 3,000
Guest Speakers for support of Business Management Course (PHRM 4310) – $2,000
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Support of the advisory group for the new pharmacy program proposal for both students and
practitioners. This includes meetings and retreats to facilitate discussion and development of
upcoming curriculum changes – $3,500
Immunization Clinics/Outreach. The purchase of disposable supplies (i.e. syringes, Band-Aids,
alcohol swabs, etc.) and equipment (i.e. portable vaccine fridge and large pharmaceutical fridge)
for vaccine storage and clinic use – $5,450

We very much appreciate the support of the CPhM and its members. The quality of our program is a
reflection of your support.
Graduation is June 2, 2016, at the Brodie Centre on the University of Manitoba Bannatyne campus,
followed by Convocation at the Fort Garry campus. Everyone is invited to attend.
Sincerely,
Neal M. Davies BSc(Pharm), Ph.D., R.Ph.
Dean and Professor
College of Pharmacy
Portions of this report have been abstracted from the full College of Pharmacy Annual Report for July1, 2014 to June 30, 2015.
Available as a pdf document on the College website at http://umanitoba.ca/faculties/pharmacy/media/Annual_Report14_15.pdf
and from the Pharma News Summer and Winter 2015 Alumni Newsletter also available as a pdf document on the website
(http://umanitoba.ca/faculties/pharmacy/media/Pharma_News_Winter_2015.pdf).
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UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA PHARMACY STUDENT’S ASSOCIATION (UMPHSA)
SENIOR CO-STICK REPORT
As another year comes close to wrapping up, it astonishes me how quickly the year passed. In the 2015
– 2016 school year, UMPhSA and the College of Pharmacy student body was busy ensuring the students
of the College of Pharmacy had another memorable year. As the Senior Co-stick of such a talented
bunch, I am proud to present to you the accomplishments of the year.
In August of 2015, even before school had started, CAPSI held our second annual Saving Second Base
Softball Tournament and Social to raise money for Plan Canada and to give the Class of 2019 an
opportunity to meet the other years. The event was successful and the students contributed $2,000.00
which goes towards pharmacies in need globally. A more local initiative was the College of Pharmacy
Run for the Cure team which raised $1,800 to go towards breast cancer research. Annually in
September, the College of Pharmacy hosts The Red Party which has become one of our most anticipated
events which also contributes to a charity. It comes as no surprise that the event was once again a
success and the initiative managed to raise $2.700 for Plan Canada. Another significant event in
September is the annual Career Avenue hosted by UMPhSA. This year, sixteen (16) companies
contributed to Career Avenue 2015 which is UMPhSA’s only fundraiser in the year. This gave the
students an opportunity to learn about the different career prospects for pharmacy. Nearer to the
holidays, in November, we held our 4th Annual Mr. Pharmacy event (now renamed Manitoba’s Next
Top Pharmacist) at the Metropolitan Centre in Winnipeg which was the product of a lot of hard work by
student volunteers and our sponsors. The event was not only very enjoyable, but also served to provide
another charity contribution to Siloam mission in the form of holiday-relevant items (food, clothing,
etc.). Fourth year student Aaron Brick won the title of Mr. Pharmacy 2015, with fourth year Aaron
Quach placing second. This year’s Mr. Congeniality award, as selected by the other contestants, was
given to second year Peter Dinh. Our students celebrated the holiday spirit by providing three (3)
Christmas Hampers as part of UMSU’s Christmas Hamper Drive.
January 2016 marked the start of the second semester which annually represents the time of year
everyone looks forward to – Professional Development Week. This year, 40 students attended
Professional Development Week in Niagara Falls, Ontario. First year Dominic Omega represented our
student body in the Canada’s Next Top Pharmacists. In the compounding competition, U of M
Pharmacy was represented by Raveen Boparai, Scott Van, Nick Rusnick, and Brett Roeland, and
brought home third place! Back in Manitoba our student body got busy with the fourth annual Banny
Bowl tournament. The Banny Bowl is a hockey tournament and social which brings together the
Colleges of Pharmacy, Medicine, Dentistry and Med. Rehab with all proceeds going to the WISH clinic.
The College of Pharmacy boasts significant contributions to the interprofessional WISH clinic, not only
through the student endowment fund donation, but also with our 20-some volunteers contributing to the
various needs of the student run organization. WISH clinic allows students to exercise their knowledge
in a clinic setting while working closely with the other students from the Faculty of Health Sciences to
serve the healthcare needs of Winnipeg’s Point Douglas community. A notable contribution includes
providing immunizations in WISH’s 2015 Flu Shot Clinics. This year marked a first effort to collaborate
with the University of Winnipeg to provide flu shot clinics for the students, staff and visitors there. The
students provided around 200 immunizations to our fellow students; although mostly 4th years
volunteered, we had some enthusiastic 3rd years as well! This school year boasted another first in the
form of the Faculty of Health Sciences Community Mentorship program; this was the first year that
College of Pharmacy students volunteered to act as mentors for those interested in applying to pharmacy.
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The school year is near its end, however, the student body and its council will not rest until school has
finished. It has been an honour and privilege to lead such a fantastic council which is successful solely
due to the hard work of all of the members, as well as the tremendous support of all of the students and
staff in the College of Pharmacy. As my last year in pharmacy and in UMPhSA comes to an end, I am
rest assured that the wonderful students of the College of Pharmacy will continue to do great things and
their student council will continue to serve and represent them.
Sincerely,
Maira Ahmed
Senior Co-Stick, UMPhSA
College of Pharmacy
University of Manitoba
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